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          1  DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Good morning,

          3  everybody. I am Councilman Stanley Michels, and

          4  welcome to the Committee on Environmental

          5  Protection, and welcome to the Fiscal 2000

          6  Preliminary Budget hearings that we are having, and

          7  the first agency that we have before us is the

          8  renown Department of Environmental Protection, with

          9  the very distinguished Commissioner and Deputy

         10  Commissioners and staff.

         11                 Would you please identify yourself

         12  and I will then commence to ask questions and wait

         13  for your statement.

         14                 Do you have a statement,

         15  Commissioner?

         16                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Yes, we do have a

         17  statement.

         18                 Good morning, Chair Michels and

         19  members. I am Joel Miele, Sr., Commissioner of the

         20  New York City Department of Environmental

         21  Protection.

         22                 I thank you for the opportunity to

         23  speak to you this morning about the Fiscal Year 2000

         24  Preliminary Budget, or if you prefer, the Financial

         25  Plan.
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          2                 With me at the table this morning are

          3  Diana Chapin, the First Deputy Commissioner on my

          4  right, and Charles Sturcken, Chief of Staff and

          5  Special Counsel on my left, and also I have with me

          6  senior staff who will join me at the table as the

          7  need arises so we may respond as fully as possible

          8  to any of your questions.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: All right. And

         10  when they do speak, they will identify themselves,

         11  knowing full well there isn't a reporter here and

         12  this is all being done on tape so we have to

         13  identify each other.

         14                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: It will be done.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you,

         16  Commissioner. Welcome.

         17                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: My written

         18  statement is a response to the February 10th, 1999

         19  letter from Chairman Berman and Michels in which

         20  five topics are suggested for inclusion of my

         21  testimony to you this morning.

         22                 Those five topics are:

         23                 1) the increase in Environmental

         24  Control Board caseload mentioned in the Financial

         25  Plan.
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          2                 2) a shift in landfill remediation

          3  costs to the Capital Budget.

          4                 3) Year-end adjustments to the Water

          5  Board reimbursement.

          6                 4) the setting of water rates for

          7  Fiscal Year 2000.

          8                 5) State and Federal actions.

          9                 The Financial Plan contains a

         10  proposed increase in ECB's budget of $768,000,

         11  commencing FY 2000 for hearing officers to

         12  adjudicate an increase in the number of violations

         13  returnable to the Board.

         14                 The hearing officers are needed to

         15  adjudicate summonses written as part of the Giuliani

         16  Administration's continuing efforts to improve the

         17  quality of life for all New Yorkers.

         18                 For example, as the Department of

         19  Buildings continues to reduce the number of

         20  dwellings unsafely and illegally occupied, in

         21  violation of fire and/or Building Code standards,

         22  inspectors from these or other agencies are issuing

         23  an increasing number of summonses returnable to ECB.

         24                 Similarly, the Department of

         25  Sanitation is increasing the number of summonses
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          2  returnable to ECB for violation of recycling and

          3  other quality of life laws and regulations.

          4                 The increase in summonses results in

          5  a need for additional attorneys who serve as the

          6  hearing officers, also known as administrative law

          7  judges or ALJs, for these violations.

          8                 To give us the flexibility to respond

          9  to daily variations in ECB's caseload, these

         10  additional attorneys are usually hired on a per diem

         11  basis.

         12                 The 768,000 thus represents our

         13  estimate of the cost of acquiring enough per diem

         14  attorney services to cover additional hearings

         15  resulting from recent changes in enforcement and

         16  strategy at other agencies, such as DOS and

         17  buildings.

         18                 We expect these costs to be offset by

         19  the increased revenues to the City based on these

         20  summonses.

         21                 DEP is in the process of remediating

         22  four closed landfills formerly operated by the

         23  Department of Sanitation. The Pelham Bay Landfill in

         24  the Bronx, the Pennsylvania Avenue and Fountain

         25  Avenue landfills in Brooklyn, and the Brookfield
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          2  Avenue landfill in Staten Island.

          3                 As you are probably also aware, DEP

          4  signed a memorandum of understanding with the State

          5  Department of Environmental Conservation which

          6  qualified DEP for reimbursement through the State's

          7  Environmental Quality Bond Act for up to 75 percent

          8  of the eligible costs of remediation, less a

          9  percentage of any money received from parties

         10  responsible for hazardous materials dumped at the

         11  landfill.

         12                 During its review of eligible costs,

         13  DEP also concluded that if prudent, certain

         14  additional costs would be transferred from City

         15  Expense Budget lines to capital budgeted funded

         16  lines.

         17                 This move will affect six landfill

         18  remediation positions in the Office of Environmental

         19  Planning and Assessment and the transfer of DEC

         20  monitoring costs from the Expense to the Capital

         21  Budget.

         22                 As Chairman Michels and many members

         23  of the Committee know, the budget for operating the

         24  water and sewer system, which is proposed by the

         25  Mayor, and adopted by the City Council, like any
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          2  other agency, is funded by the water and sewer fees

          3  set by the New York City Water Board.

          4                 In practice, the City is responsible

          5  for the initial costs of operating the system,

          6  salaries, contracting costs, rent, utilities and all

          7  other associated operating costs. The Water Board

          8  then reimburses the City using funds collected from

          9  water and sewer fees.

         10                 Following the close of Fiscal Year

         11  1998 last June, the Office of Management and Budget

         12  determined that $17 million in Intra-Fund agreement

         13  payments that were paid by the City had not been

         14  reimbursed by the Water Board.

         15                 The Financial Plan thus shows a

         16  one-time $17 million adjustment to the City's

         17  revenue budget for the current fiscal year.

         18                 In early April, the Water Board sends

         19  out the formal public notice and it intends to hold

         20  a public hearing in each borough, usually late

         21  April, for the purpose of soliciting comment on the

         22  setting of water and sewer rates for the fiscal year

         23  beginning the following July 1st.

         24                 In early May typically, the Board

         25  meets and actually sets the rate. As soon as the
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          2  rates are set, bills are generated to all frontage

          3  customers payable by July 31st. Metered customers

          4  will have their quarterly bills adjusted

          5  accordingly.

          6                 Right now the price of water and

          7  sewer service is $3.24 per 100 cubic feet of water

          8  consumed. For the average single family metered

          9  customer, that works out to $433 per year. For the

         10  average single family flat rate customer, the annual

         11  charge is about $50 higher, at $488.

         12                 As a percentage of per capita income,

         13  using U.S. Department of Commerce income statistics,

         14  New Yorkers spend about one percent of their

         15  household income on water and sewer bills. By

         16  comparison, the average Bostonian spends 2.5 percent

         17  of their household income on water and sewer bills.

         18  The average Los Angeles resident spends about 1.7

         19  percent, and nationwide, the average American spends

         20  1.8 percent of their household's paycheck on water

         21  and sewer services.

         22                 Current rate projections are for a

         23  5.4 percent increase in water and sewer rates for FY

         24  2000. Barring the emergence of any new unforeseen

         25  costs in the next month, it is safe to say that the
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          2  rates should not move beyond that.

          3                 It is still a little premature to say

          4  whether the board will be able to do any further

          5  downward adjustment. Mindful of the Mayor's concern

          6  about reducing unnecessary costs, I can assure you

          7  that DEP and the Board will try and keep the

          8  increase in rates as low as possible.

          9                 In that light it might be worth

         10  noting here that approximately 49 percent of the

         11  cost of our water and sewer system is interest

         12  payments on all the City general obligation and

         13  Water Authority bonds issued to finance the capital

         14  projects approved in prior budgets.

         15                 Obviously this number is fixed.

         16  Payments in interest and principal on outstanding

         17  debt must be paid if we are to continue our present

         18  good rating.

         19                 The income from water and sewer rates

         20  must be sufficient to make those payments and to pay

         21  all of the other costs of the operating and

         22  maintaining of our system.

         23                 Although DEP's budget is proposed by

         24  the Mayor, adopted by the City Council, and funded

         25  by water users who pay rates set by the Water Board,
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          2  it is to a very increasing extent the requirements

          3  of state and federal governments that drive the cost

          4  of the system.

          5                 Last year we estimated that in FY

          6  2000, about 13 billion of our 1.8 billion capital

          7  plan was spent on what we classify as mandated

          8  programs. The rest is spent on things like putting

          9  new storm sewers into Southeast Queens, removing

         10  high-pressure hydrants from downtown Brooklyn and

         11  Manhattan, and replacing small diameter water mains

         12  in the Bronx.

         13                 These are all critical infrastructure

         14  needs that have to compete with the mandated

         15  programs.

         16                 Clearly, the mandated programs are

         17  all worth, in one way for another. But the mandates

         18  reduce the City's flexibility to put more money into

         19  needed projects like water main replacement or other

         20  infrastructure goals not enshrined in a consent

         21  order, regulation or statute.

         22                 The agency must, therefore,

         23  prioritize its spending to meet both all the

         24  substantial requirements of state and federal

         25  mandates, and provide water and sewer service to our
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          2  paying customers in a way that leaves them

          3  satisfied.

          4                 I am not suggesting that meeting

          5  federal and state mandates is contrary to providing

          6  customer friendly cost effective service, I am

          7  saying that priorities of our customers may be

          8  different than the priorities of our regulators. But

          9  our regulators don't leave us much choice.

         10                 With the constraints of its budget,

         11  DEP is continuing its efforts to provide the most

         12  efficient customer friendly service as possible.

         13                 If you have any questions about these

         14  services today, I encourage you to ask.

         15                 This concludes my prepared testimony.

         16  I thank you for the opportunity to speak, and I and

         17  my staff are prepared to answer any questions you

         18  might have.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you,

         20  Commissioner.

         21                 The first thing that occurred to me,

         22  you know, in asking questions that are off -- that

         23  are not on the questions which you received, which

         24  are stimulated by your statement.

         25                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Feel free, we are
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          2  flexible.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you very

          4  much. I feel completely free.

          5                 You say 49 percent of the cost of our

          6  water and sewer system is interest payments on all

          7  the general obligation and Water Authority bonds --

          8                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: -- Issued to

         10  finance, to capital and projects approved in prior

         11  budgets. That's a heck of a percentage. Our debt

         12  service is about 17 percent, somewhere around 16 and

         13  17 percent of the City's expense budget goes for

         14  paying debt service.

         15                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: That's true, but

         16  you have other things to spend money on other than

         17  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I understand

         19  that. I am not questioning that, I am just saying it

         20  is a huge amount.

         21                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Yes, it is.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And it accounts

         23  for a great extent the increase in water and sewer

         24  costs.

         25                 The question I have for you and maybe
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          2  one of your Finance people want to answer it, but

          3  knowing you, you probably have the answer anyway, is

          4  there provision in any of these general obligation

          5  on Water Authority bonds to call them early?

          6                 Because the reason they are probably

          7  so high is because they are based upon interest

          8  rates that were much higher than they are today.

          9                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Well, we have

         10  refinanced enormous quantities of our own Water

         11  Authority bonds in order to bring the rates down to

         12  the current rates, we have been extremely successful

         13  in doing that.

         14                 In fact, we have knocked off in some

         15  cases as much as two points or more in the rate that

         16  we have paid. So, yes, the answer is we do have the

         17  right to call certain bonds and to redo it.

         18                 On the other hand, in order to sell

         19  bonds in many cases you agree not to bring and

         20  recall the bonds within a given period of time, so

         21  that the person buying the bond has a reasonable

         22  expectation.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But this is in

         24  the bond documents themselves.

         25                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The bond

          3  documents themselves say when you can call and when

          4  you can't call.

          5                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: That's right.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: In other words,

          7  you are saying that we have maximized our ability to

          8  call the bonds as early as we can which is the high

          9  interest rates. Obviously at the lower interest rate

         10  you are not going to call it.

         11                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We obviously are

         12  looking at every single bond issue on a regular

         13  basis to make sure that there is a logic to keeping

         14  them or if we have the right to refund them, to go

         15  back out, refund them and refinance them.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I assume you are

         17  doing that. Thank you.

         18                 And then what can you tell us about

         19  within the next fiscal year, are we going to be able

         20  to retire some of these high interest bonds?

         21                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Let me get the

         22  expert up and ask.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Would you want

         24  to come up and give us your name? I guess you are

         25  surprised you are being called today.
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I

          3  am Diana Chapin. I am the First Deputy Commissioner,

          4  and also the Executive Director of the Water Board.

          5                 The Municipal Water Finance Authority

          6  is continuously refinancing our bonds, it's doing

          7  hundreds of millions of transactions and we have

          8  effectively had about five percent and sometimes

          9  with additional aspects like SRF funding, it

         10  translates into like a two and a half percent rate,

         11  which is really exceptional. The more we can do

         12  that, obviously, the more we can help to have an

         13  impact on reducing rates.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What I am trying

         15  to find out, Diana, that's why I have him up here,

         16  is what the projections are for this fiscal year and

         17  the following fiscal year as to whether or not there

         18  may be a great surge in the bonds many years ago

         19  that we are now eligible to retire, and where do we

         20  stand on that?

         21                 And also, besides calling them down,

         22  these bonds are bought and sold all the time, aren't

         23  they? Maybe it would pay to go into the market and

         24  buy some of these bonds, I don't know.

         25                 MR. KUSTERBECK: My name is William
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          2  Kusterbeck, and I am the Treasurer of the New York

          3  City Water Board.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I think this is

          5  your maiden appearance?

          6                 MR. KUSTERBECK:  Well, I have been

          7  here before, sir. I had been in a more low-key role.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay.

          9                 MR. KUSTERBECK: I think the answer to

         10  your question is that we have enjoyed several years

         11  now of very low interest rates.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Right. That's in

         13  new bonds.

         14                 MR. KUSTERBECK: Yes, but we have also

         15  taken many opportunities to refinance our older

         16  bonds that were issued in '85 through '92, '93.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I guess the

         18  question is, have we taken every advantage, or we

         19  may not have sufficient monies to retire some bonds;

         20  is that the situation, or is it we have a legal

         21  problem?

         22                 MR. KUSTERBECK: No.

         23                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We don't have a

         24  problem in getting money to retire the bonds. If we

         25  are going to roll the bonds over, we will just roll
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          2  the bonds over.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes, I would

          4  think so.

          5                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We don't need

          6  money for that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So, it's a legal

          8  issue, it is what the bond paper says?

          9                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Correct.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Now that you

         11  have answered his question, maybe you can tell me

         12  what he asked you and maybe I will ask it and you

         13  can give me an answer, because it sounded very

         14  interesting.

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I

         16  was going to suggest that you might call Mark Page,

         17  who is the Director of the Water Finance Authority,

         18  who might have a better idea of the projection for

         19  bond refinancing.

         20                 What I do know is they are taking a

         21  very aggressive stance on financing.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I would hope so.

         23                 Well, here is a great opportunity, we

         24  don't know what the interest rates are going to be

         25  in the future.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We are thrilled

          3  by the opportunity to be able to reduce the costs of

          4  the system. We are very comfortable it is happening,

          5  but why don't I just get you a little piece of paper

          6  that outlines what we are doing and what we are

          7  going to do in the future.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Why don't you do

          9  that.

         10                 And also, can you give me an idea,

         11  maybe I can ask this question, sir? Give him back

         12  the mic.

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I

         14  still wanted to make a point that I think is --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Make your point,

         16  but before I forget the question, because it is not

         17  my area of expertise, as to what the financial

         18  convenience is of actually going into the market and

         19  buying some of these bonds back, rather than just

         20  retiring them and buying them? And are we able to do

         21  that? Can we do that?

         22                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Part of the

         23  problem is that we would need to use cash to buy the

         24  bonds.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Right.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Obviously whereas

          3  if we are refinancing the bonds, we really don't

          4  need the cash. So, we would have to set aside money

          5  which means we would have to create a pool of money

          6  to do that with.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Or float other

          8  bonds in order to get the cash to do that with.

          9                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: But then you

         10  would have to go out and put a bond issue together

         11  to do that. The answer is there is nothing wrong at

         12  looking at that. We will look at that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But you are

         14  always having bond issues. How many bond issues are

         15  we going to have this year?

         16                 MR. KUSTERBECK: (Speaking from

         17  audience not in mic).

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And how much do

         19  each one of them amount to?

         20                 MR. KUSTERBECK: Upwards of 300

         21  million.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So could that

         23  money be used to go into the market to buy back high

         24  interest bonds?

         25                 MR. KUSTERBECK: Well, assuming that
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          2  there are high interest bonds still out there.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes, obviously.

          4  If they are not, you are not going to buy them.

          5                 But there obviously are high interest

          6  bonds out there. When you are spending 49 percent of

          7  the cost of the system in interest payments, there

          8  has got to be some high interest bonds out there.

          9                 MR. KUSTERBECK: That is principal and

         10  interest.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And the reason

         12  it is so high is because there are some bonds out

         13  there you are paying a lot of interest on.

         14                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: One thing doesn't

         15  follow from the other, Mr. Chairman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: All right.

         17                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: The answer is, I

         18  think that has been stated here, is the fact that

         19  most of the high interest rate bonds we have already

         20  rolled over.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay. I just

         22  want to be convinced we are doing every possible to

         23  keep the rates low.

         24                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: And keep in mind,

         25  we have been getting fairly low rates over the last
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          2  three or four years just by the very nature of it,

          3  so it is really not any -- there is a cost to

          4  rolling these things over, we have to amortize that

          5  cost there, it has got to be a bang for the buck

          6  here.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: There is

          8  principal and interest you have to pay.

          9                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We will give you

         10  a brief that basically talks about where we are and

         11  where we think we can go from here, given what we

         12  have got now, and assuming that the rates don't

         13  change dramatically from what they are right now.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Even though we

         15  only pay one percent, as you testified to, as

         16  opposed to Los Angeles and other places which pay a

         17  higher percentage, nevertheless there is a lot of

         18  agita, to use that expression, in the City of New

         19  York about the cost of our water and sewer.

         20                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: There is no

         21  question about it, every dollar we can save, we want

         22  to save, clearly.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And every dollar

         24  we can not have to raise the rates for, is much

         25  better also.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: It is part and

          3  parcel of the whole process.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Now, you did

          5  direct yourself toward the issue of the

          6  Environmental Control Board in your statement and I

          7  am very glad you did tell us that you were hiring,

          8  can you tell us how many administrative law judges

          9  you are going to be hiring? And additional clerical

         10  support?

         11                 And are they hirable? In other words,

         12  is there a pool of people to be hired?

         13                 MS. McCARTHY: Hi. I am Ann McCarthy.

         14  I am the Director of the Environmental Control

         15  Board.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Ann, welcome

         17  again. I know you are a veteran of these hearings.

         18                 MS. McCARTHY: Yes, I am.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: As opposed to

         20  your maiden hearings.

         21                 MS. McCARTHY: The monies that have

         22  been earmarked are for our per diem hearing officer

         23  staff, which means that as we need, as there is

         24  additional need for more hearings, we actually

         25  acquire the services of --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I know what it

          3  means. I think everybody in the Committee knows what

          4  it means. The question is, is it enough?

          5                 MS. McCARTHY: I don't really have to

          6  hire more people. I have people. It is just I will

          7  utilize the time, you know, the contract time.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: As opposed to

          9  being overtime?

         10                 MS. McCARTHY: Right. Well, there is

         11  no overtime. The per diem makes about, I guess

         12  approximately $30 an hour, so if you have, you know,

         13  additional --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And you have

         15  stable people who are willing and able to come in?

         16                 MS. McCARTHY: It is a roster of about

         17  150 people.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Capable,

         19  knowledgeable.

         20                 MS. McCARTHY: Capable, knowledgable,

         21  they all have at least three years after admission

         22  to the bar. They have litigation experience.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, so this is

         24  a pool and you think there is enough money in here

         25  to do that?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: A little

          3  calculation tells me it is approximately 3,500 man

          4  days additional, but if she has got people who come

          5  in now two days a week, they might be coming in

          6  three days a week or four days a week to fill in on

          7  an as needed basis. So, she is anticipating if she

          8  has a problem, she now will have the funds to be

          9  able to take care of that problem.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And you believe

         11  there is a better approach rather than to hire

         12  additional full-time administrative judges?

         13                 MS. McCARTHY: Yes, it is, because it

         14  is more actually cost effective, because if I had to

         15  purchase the full-time staff --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And you have to

         17  give them all the fringe benefits?

         18                 MS. McCARTHY: Well, I mean if the

         19  issuance drops off, then I am stuck with a slate of

         20  staff who I wouldn't need. The flexibility the per

         21  diems give you, you can respond quickly to the need.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, the

         23  question I have always ask you and I will continue

         24  to ask you, are the computers set so they can catch

         25  repeat offenders when they come down with their
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          2  decision as to the fines? You know what I am talking

          3  about. So the same guy doesn't come in here and get

          4  the same penalty all the time as a cost of doing

          5  business --

          6                 MS. McCARTHY: Right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But if he knows

          8  that the fines are going to get up and up and up,

          9  maybe he will comply with the offenses.

         10                 MS. McCARTHY: Right. Well, not all of

         11  the statutes have repeat offender status, as you

         12  know. But when the agency actually brings the --

         13  they write on the notice of violation they are a

         14  repeat offender and that is presented to the hearing

         15  officer.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But I was asking

         17  you, when the hearing officer says, look I find you

         18  guilty, therefore I am going to level a fine at you,

         19  can he get his computer up to find out how many

         20  previous offenses there are?

         21                 MS. McCARTHY: Yes, in some occasions.

         22  In particular on the vending violations. They also

         23  research --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: There are

         25  storekeepers who want to keep their stores proper.
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          2                 MS. McCARTHY: The Department of

          3  Sanitation does have an official repeat offender

          4  schedule. They have a program, a multiple offense

          5  program, where they look and they get a report from

          6  the Environmental Control Board if any particular

          7  premises has more than 12 findings of violation or

          8  default within a 12-month period. Then they bring

          9  them as a maximum, you know each violation that they

         10  issue, they apply the maximum penalty. So, it is up

         11  to the Department of Sanitation.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The law does

         13  provide for increased penalties?

         14                 MS. McCARTHY: I am sorry?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The repeat

         16  offenders, we increase penalties.

         17                 MS. McCARTHY: In vendors.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes.

         19                 MS. McCARTHY: In vendors that is

         20  correct. In vendors. But in the Department of

         21  Sanitation you are talking about the Sanitation

         22  Code, there are minimums and maximums.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I understand

         24  that.

         25                 MS. McCARTHY: Right.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I just want to

          3  make sure that you have that information, the

          4  Administrative Judges have that information.

          5                 MS. McCARTHY: Yes, on the vendors.

          6  Yes, they do.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: How are we doing

          8  with Y2K?

          9                 MS. McCARTHY: We're pretty good.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That information

         11  is not going to be wiped out in the Year 2000?

         12                 MS. McCARTHY: Oh, no, no, no. No,

         13  absolutely not.

         14                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We will meet all

         15  of the necessary criteria well before the end of

         16  this year. We will meet, and beat in most cases, the

         17  Mayor's deadline of June 30th.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: In your entire

         19  agency?

         20                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: In the entire

         21  agency.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay.

         23                 Mr. Robles.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chairman.
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          2                 I want to pick up where the Chairman,

          3  because as you were reading, Commissioner, I was

          4  impressed with your statement, and the question is,

          5  if this is true, then we need to do a better job in

          6  educating New Yorkers. Because if you are saying to

          7  us that water and sewer bills are one percent here

          8  and then you go to what I would call big cities or

          9  urban centers like New York City, you said Boston,

         10  you mentioned Los Angeles and what have you and you

         11  see those percentages, even though people still

         12  complain, you know, in fairness to those of us who

         13  are not so astute to environmental protection but we

         14  have very active advocates in our community and

         15  think that John Doe the public should at least,

         16  whether they agree or disagree, the fact is it takes

         17  away that hostility that sometimes when you go to

         18  the public not knowing all of the facts. And I must

         19  say that this is something that it is the first time

         20  I have ever seen this, and I suggest that it is not,

         21  and we should educate better.

         22                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We agree, and we

         23  are moving to do that through our own web site,

         24  through our bills. I go out and speak at public

         25  meetings. Two things I might point out to you just
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          2  again, because they hit you right in the head, we

          3  are in -- if you look at the cost of water and sewer

          4  from zero to 100 percent, we are in the lowest 30

          5  percentile, which means we are well below average

          6  nationwide in our charges for water and sewer, and

          7  what came out early this morning, one of my deputies

          8  just happened to mention it because it is a

          9  remarkable fact, most people pay more for cable TV

         10  than they pay for water and sewer in the City of New

         11  York.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Now, let me go

         13  into an area that perhaps, but it is very

         14  interesting, since you had the Deputy Director of

         15  ECB. As you know, your mission, your agency, people

         16  look to your agency as the agency when it comes to

         17  the environment and all the pollution and what have

         18  you, but then you also have in some areas, like I do

         19  in North Brooklyn, we have large industrial

         20  districts, and there are two components: There is

         21  you, and then later on Sanitation is going to come.

         22  The problem that I have in these hearings, with all

         23  due respect, is I wish that both you and the

         24  Sanitation Commissioner can be at the same table so

         25  that when related questions that have mutual

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            32

          1  DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  jurisdiction that maybe could be answered.

          3                 For example, I hear you are going to

          4  add per diem so you can keep up with the volume and

          5  adjudication or what have you. As the Chairman asked

          6  the question, how do you share that information,

          7  i.e. your agency, Sanitation, with the public?

          8                 For example, after it is all said and

          9  done, I guess you do most of the adjudication. I see

         10  letters, for example, from Borough Presidents where

         11  allegations that constant violations by certain

         12  companies in our communities, yet how do you let the

         13  public know when you have found and you have cited

         14  no only the violations but what the outcome of it is

         15  when it comes to community boards, to Council

         16  members, elected officials?

         17                 Because when permits come up, whether

         18  it is in this case Sanitation, they send us a letter

         19  which basically says that the permit is up for

         20  renewal and do we have any comments. The kind of

         21  information, instead of typically saying, oh, you

         22  know, not in my back yard or we don't want them, if

         23  we had the information that says, excuse me, we

         24  don't want them because A, B, C and D, this is the

         25  violations in the last 12 months, these are the
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          2  fines, this is what has happened, and I just need to

          3  know, how do you coordinate that?

          4                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Well, let's stay

          5  with the Department of Sanitation, since you started

          6  with it.

          7                 If the Department of Sanitation

          8  issues an NOV and it is adjudicated in the

          9  Environmental Control Board, they obviously know

         10  what the results of it are because their

         11  representative is there and hears the verdict and

         12  the paperwork reflects that. So, each of the

         13  agencies that brings an NOV before ECB, including

         14  our own, is capable of providing you with that

         15  information.

         16                 Because we go across agencies, the

         17  information really doesn't mean too much to the ECB

         18  other than it is a statistic, it is a cross-agency

         19  statistic that we usually use.

         20                 But the answer is I think that we

         21  certainly can tell you what the impact is in our own

         22  agency issuing NOVs, and I think DOS could provide

         23  you with the same information and any other agency

         24  should be able to do that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: The other
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          2  area, if I may, and I read in the papers and let me

          3  just begin; and that is, I saw where allegedly, I

          4  guess they call them peace officers, all I know is

          5  they policed your facilities upstate New York, they

          6  are the protectors, and the article pointed about

          7  the pay.

          8                 Can you just enlighten me and walk me

          9  through of why if they are police officers, one, are

         10  they City workers? And if they are, why is that

         11  salary different from a Sanitation police officer or

         12  any other that has the same status?

         13                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Okay.

         14                 All right, that is I think a fairly

         15  easy one. I mean, yes, number one, they are City

         16  workers. Number two, they are full police officers,

         17  they have full police power.

         18                 The difference is that they work in

         19  an environment, they have tasks and responsibilities

         20  that vary dramatically from the average New York

         21  City police officer.

         22                 The pay scales within the watershed

         23  are not the same as the pay scales within the City.

         24  The work that we ask them to do as police officers

         25  is dramatically different from the very difficult
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          2  environment that sometimes the New York police

          3  officers have here.

          4                 Our problem has been primarily that I

          5  see that our pay scale that we have been paying our

          6  officers up there does not compare in any manner,

          7  shape or form as we compared water sewers and rates

          8  a little while ago across the country, with the pay

          9  scales of the other Police Departments within the

         10  watershed, both town, county and state police.

         11                 As a consequence, what ends up

         12  happening is that I hire a young fellow, a young gal

         13  to go on the Police Department, I put them into

         14  training in the Westchester Police Academy for a

         15  period of time, nine months or so, I put them in

         16  uniform, I turn them out, get them to get working on

         17  the job, and since they start out at a salary that

         18  is in the low twenties and they top out actually in

         19  the low twenties, it doesn't take much genius for

         20  them to take a look at the local police department,

         21  find out that an officer with the same experience,

         22  doing essentially the same kinds of things in

         23  essentially the same environment is earning maybe

         24  $6,000, $8,000, maybe $10,000 more than she is.

         25  Well, the first thing they do is put in an
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          2  application to transfer from my police department to

          3  that police department.

          4                 And I have stated that I believe that

          5  what I am is the training department for all of the

          6  police departments in the watershed because we can't

          7  retain officers over the long period because of that

          8  disparity.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: So what are we

         10  going to do?

         11                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: What we are going

         12  to do is we are involved right now in doing a study

         13  of what the comparables are upstate. We will then

         14  sit down with the Office of Labor Relations and we

         15  will enter into collective bargaining with the

         16  police officers union upstate, which is not the same

         17  as the one downstate, and what we will do is we will

         18  seek to get equity for them, at the same time

         19  seeking to get a balance from them as to what they

         20  will provide us in the way of efforts, what their

         21  tasks will be, what their time shall be, what their

         22  vacation will be, et cetera.

         23                 And when that is completed, then we

         24  will move their salaries up to that point and I

         25  think at that point we will find out that the brain
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          2  drain from the Department of Environmental

          3  Protection Police Department will cease.

          4                 In addition to that, we have gotten,

          5  basically as we have requested, substantial

          6  additional assets. Howard Safir can say that he has

          7  got an additional thousand police officers to his

          8  40,000, which is like two percent, two and a half

          9  percent. Well, I can say that we have got a 120

         10  percent increase in our police officers because we

         11  are moving from 59 officers to protect the watershed

         12  and to patrol the watershed, and we are going to add

         13  another 70 so we will be up at 130 officers, 129,

         14  130 officers.

         15                 We will again work out the hiring

         16  rules for that, but obviously we have to change the

         17  salaries so we might as well get that in place

         18  beforehand.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: What is the

         20  timetable?

         21                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We are moving on

         22  that now. We expect to have that done this year.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Chairman.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Council Member
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          2  Carrion.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Yes, thank

          4  you, Mr. Chairman.

          5                 Good morning, Commissioner.

          6                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Good morning.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: I got a

          8  little bit of a late start this morning. But there

          9  is a couple of things that we will start with and as

         10  we go through we will come back to some other stuff.

         11                 Of course we have one very large item

         12  in the Bronx that I am always thinking about, and it

         13  is the water filtration plant that is proposed for

         14  the Marshall Golf Course (phonetic), my driving

         15  range. I see that the design, there is a design

         16  piece in the budget that is supposed to start in

         17  Fiscal Year '99. What is the projected impact on the

         18  budget and where does the money come from to begin

         19  this project?

         20                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: The money is in

         21  our current fiscal year budget, four-year budget and

         22  ten-year budget. It has been there. It has been

         23  there all along. We have anticipated it.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Since when,

         25  when you say all along?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Well, we have

          3  known for the last two or three years that we had to

          4  project ourselves for this, so we included it in the

          5  budget.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Six-hundred

          7  million, the total?

          8                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Six-hundred

          9  million, the whole nine yards.

         10                 Now, obviously we are not going to

         11  spend that in one year.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Right.

         13                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: It will take us

         14  probably the better part of five years to complete

         15  the projects, but we will be spending the money, and

         16  not even the 100 million because there will be

         17  design work and other work that has to be done in

         18  advance, which is obviously starting as we speak.

         19                 When that project is completed, your

         20  driving range, by the way, will be transformed from

         21  the condition it is now and if you use it you know

         22  its condition --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Yes.

         24                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: -- To obviously a

         25  brand new modern one, and we will be also rebuilding
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          2  the golf course behind it.

          3                 So, unless Henry and the community

          4  have some other ideas as to what they want, what you

          5  will end up with is, instead of the second oldest

          6  golf course in the City's system, you will end up

          7  with the most pristine --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Commissioner,

          9  you are teasing me. That's not going to sell me.

         10                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: It will be there.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: It would be

         12  nice to have a new golf course in the Bronx.

         13                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: It will be there.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Is that your

         15  sport?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Yes, I play

         17  golf.

         18                 What is the source of the funds?

         19                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: The source of the

         20  funds, as in all things for water and sewers, the

         21  ratepayers.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: There is no

         23  special fund?

         24                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: There is no

         25  special fund. We will again have to float bonds
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          2  obviously for whatever we need.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Issuance of

          4  bonds.

          5                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: But, again, we

          6  are projecting based upon, we have reasonable costs

          7  for increases in water charges and sewer charges

          8  that will be based upon our needs to spend that kind

          9  of money.

         10                 Now, $600 million sounds like a lot

         11  of money, but if you put it in contrast with our

         12  annual budget for capital construction, which you

         13  have already heard, it is not -- and it is part of

         14  that money, obviously.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Within the

         16  context of this project, one of the discussions that

         17  is ongoing is, and we visited it last year, and it

         18  seems like it was just a short time ago, the issue

         19  of filtration avoidance and the study that you are

         20  conducting.

         21                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: That I guess

         23  you have been conducting for some time now.

         24                 How much effort is being put into

         25  that in dollars and cents, in staff time, and when
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          2  can we see a disposition on the question of

          3  filtration avoidance, because obviously you know

          4  what the sentiment of the Bronx community is.

          5                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Well, let me put

          6  it to you this way, talking philosophically about

          7  the thing, clearly if there is no need for filter, I

          8  don't want to build it because I don't want to spend

          9  $600 million of our money if there is no need for

         10  it.

         11                 I think very clearly I can make a

         12  case now, and our water quality people can make a

         13  case now that today we don't need it. That being

         14  said, that doesn't mean that the criteria that the

         15  federal government established for drinking water

         16  will not be ratcheted down to the point where I

         17  might have a problem with it five years from now or

         18  ten years from now or maybe 20 or 30 years from now.

         19                 Now, part of the puzzle here is, even

         20  if you can avoid building the plant today, if you

         21  have to build the plant 15 years from now, what have

         22  we gained by avoiding biting the bullet and we have

         23  to factor that into the equation.

         24                 As to how much money we are spending

         25  on looking at alternatives to filtration, the answer
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          2  is whatever we need to spend. We have no problem

          3  with budget with respect to that.

          4                 Our problem is getting over certain

          5  scientific hurdles, which we can go into great depth

          6  on and the like, but the bottom line is, we need, we

          7  believe, and to successfully sell alternatives to

          8  filtration, to use certain chemical additions to our

          9  water to make certain changes in them, in the bodies

         10  of water and the quality of water itself.

         11                 If we can get that we think we have a

         12  reasonable expectation of showing our regulators

         13  that we could possibly use filtration avoidance.

         14                 If in fact we can't do that, then we

         15  don't have any alterative whatsoever and we are

         16  committed now and have committed ourselves in court

         17  to continue to move forward on filtration if we

         18  cannot make a case.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well, that is

         20  the point I wanted to make. This is being done

         21  pursuant to a court directive.

         22                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: There is no

         23  question about that at all.

         24                 However, we felt --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Sure, and I
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          2  think everybody understands that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But I wanted to

          4  make that part of the record.

          5                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We have felt --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: There is not

          7  that much discretion here.

          8                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We have felt that

          9  the Department strongly enough about the fact that

         10  we need to look at all of the alternatives and all

         11  of the possibilities --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Sure.

         13                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: That quite

         14  frankly we went into court and attempted to get what

         15  is called a dual track approval from our regulators

         16  at EPA, that is, will you permit us as we do in the

         17  Delaware and Catskills, will you permit us to go

         18  forward on a parallel path, one towards filtration,

         19  one towards alternatives to filtration.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: That was part

         21  of the MOA.

         22                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: And we were

         23  successful in that negotiation to get it.

         24                 Unfortunately, when the Giuliani

         25  Administration came in office there was already a
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          2  commitment by a prior administration to filter the

          3  Croton system, so this is something, not that we had

          4  to sell them on, but we had to unsell them on

          5  something we have already committed that we had to

          6  do, and that is really the issue.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: I agree, and

          8  I think all reasonable people would agree that if we

          9  can safe $600 million we should.

         10                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We are trying our

         11  damndest.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Yes. And that

         13  if we can filter naturally we should, and the

         14  question of longevity and stability of the system is

         15  important.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What about golf

         17  courses?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: And I think

         19  golfing is very important, you know, in terms of

         20  managing stress.

         21                 The concern that I have is the timing

         22  of this. You know, we are moving on one track by

         23  court decree.

         24                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: We are moving
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          2  on another by will.

          3                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: You know,

          5  just shear will. And you were saying, you know, it

          6  makes sense if we could avoid this, we should, and

          7  then we will go back to the court and ask them to do

          8  this, and say it doesn't make sense, and we make

          9  court decisions to do things and we can undo them.

         10                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Well, it's not

         11  that simple because we have to get beyond the

         12  regulators --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: No, no, I

         14  understand the complications, but I think we can

         15  undo almost any decision because they are done by

         16  people --

         17                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: With the proper

         18  support and the proper scientific evidence, the

         19  answer is yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Absolutely.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Let me ask you

         22  this question, because one of the questions -- I

         23  have seen the questions we have on the list --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS:  One of the
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          2  questions we have, F, if you want to look at F, we

          3  looked at what you have done in the budget, and the

          4  January Capital Commitment Plan decreases the

          5  funding for the Croton filtration plant by $201

          6  million in Fiscal Year '02 and 209 in Fiscal Year

          7  '03, but pushes out the 410 million funding to out

          8  years '04 and '05; is this because you are hedging

          9  your bets?

         10                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: I don't know

         11  whether I would describe it as hedging our bets. I

         12  think --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am not going

         14  to put words in your mouth.

         15                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: I think looking

         16  at what needs to be done, the answer is we want to

         17  wait until the last possible second to make the

         18  decision that is a critical decision. And to that

         19  extent, you know, the answer is it looks like 2001

         20  or 2002 is our drop-dead deadline.

         21                 However, given critical past methods,

         22  there are certain testing we need to do in order to

         23  be able to come up with scientific evidence at a

         24  point in time, we need to do that over a certain

         25  period of time, and, frankly, what I am telling you
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          2  is if we don't get started on certain of that pilot

          3  testing with the consent of our regulators at the

          4  state and federal government now, we lose all

          5  possibility of filtration alternatives.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And you don't

          7  think putting this money over, as far as you do,

          8  will raise the hackles of the feds?

          9                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: No. I have made

         10  it very plain to the feds where I stand. In fact,

         11  they took us into court because I flat out said,

         12  first of all I can't do it in the time frame that

         13  you claim that it needs to be built in; and second

         14  of all, I think we ought to revisit, since it was a

         15  long time ago we made the decision, why we are doing

         16  this.

         17                 I mean, as I have told you before, we

         18  went back to determine whether we actually needed

         19  the Croton water.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Right.

         21                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: The idea being if

         22  we don't need the Croton water as part of our water

         23  system, then we don't have a $600 million bill in

         24  front of us.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But it is really
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          2  a lot tastier than the Chelsea pumping station.

          3                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Well, there is no

          4  question about that. And frankly, that is the issue.

          5  Because if we get into a drought, I mean the bottom

          6  line is we don't need the water in the normal course

          7  of business when we don't have a drought; however,

          8  if we do have a drought, that water is an ace in the

          9  hole and we don't want to give that water away, we

         10  don't think it would be practical or logical.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Thank you,

         12  Commissioner.

         13                 Mr. Chairman, I will come back to

         14  some other stuff on second round.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That would be

         16  good. Thank you.

         17                 I discussed with you previous to the

         18  hearing, and referring you to the fact that we had a

         19  hearing last week with respect to the underground

         20  storage tanks that are owned by the City of New York

         21  and the situation was vis-a-vis the feds and the

         22  state, the law was passed where we have to upgrade

         23  and check and inspect and do all sorts of things as

         24  far as underground storage tanks under federal law,

         25  which was a ten-year period of time, which deadline
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          2  expired on December 22nd of '98, and that the State

          3  of New York is not in compliance, for whatever

          4  reason, and there are some reasons for it, and

          5  therefore that we are relegated to federal

          6  enforcement which leads us with eight inspectors

          7  covering the region 2, EPA region 2, so that we have

          8  eight inspectors throughout the state, New Jersey,

          9  the American Virgin Islands and Puerto Rico, so we

         10  really have some problems.

         11                 But more relevant and more down to

         12  the point, we had Commissioner Tormenta in front of

         13  us, it was with respect to the underground storage

         14  tanks within the City of New York and their

         15  compliance with the law, and he testified, I think

         16  they have already examined some 1,600 underground

         17  storage tanks within the City of New York, and an

         18  additional 614 they have not looked at either. And

         19  these storage tanks which are defined as, broadly

         20  defined as tanks which are ten percent or more

         21  underground and which contain oil and gasoline and

         22  various toxic substances, fertilizer, and various

         23  other insecticides and such. And the concern I had

         24  with it was the possibility that before we could do

         25  what had to be done to protect ourselves, which
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          2  engendered the law in the first place, we could be

          3  in trouble on that, and I was wondering if you would

          4  like to comment on the issue? I am sure you are

          5  aware of it.

          6                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Yes, we are aware

          7  of it. In fact, I have been working with the Deputy

          8  who is responsible for basically most of the tanks

          9  within the agency. But let me step back and say

         10  first --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Not only are we

         12  concerned about the City tanks, of course I am very

         13  concerned and then --

         14                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: I understand

         15  that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: -- You did

         17  testify with respect to the watershed.

         18                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Unfortunately I

         19  can't speak for the City because DDC has that

         20  primary responsibility for that issue. But I can

         21  tell you --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But if something

         23  happens untoward you may have to deal with the

         24  results of it.

         25                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We would respond
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          2  to spills if there was a spill, there is no question

          3  about that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What we are

          5  talking about is preventive medicine here. You don't

          6  have to respond, but nevertheless you do have a --

          7  it may not be a responsibility but maybe a duty to

          8  do something about it.

          9                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: However, the

         10  reality of it is that if all of the underground

         11  storage tanks were removed tomorrow, then our

         12  requirement to respond to spills would be obviously

         13  remarkably compressed, so we don't anticipate that

         14  we are going to have a major problem in looking at

         15  spills, because we don't anticipate just because the

         16  feds have put a ten-year deadline on it, that all of

         17  the underground storage tanks are miraculously going

         18  to start leaking.

         19                 So, we are comfortable that we don't

         20  have any labor problem or inspection problem with

         21  it.

         22                 However, within our own agency, we

         23  have many, many tanks, had many, many tanks,

         24  continue to have many, many tanks --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And some of
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          2  these tanks in the City of New York are your

          3  agency's tanks.

          4                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We have tanks

          5  within the City and we have tanks outside the City

          6  of New York, up in the watershed obviously.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The Commissioner

          8  obviously was only talking about --

          9                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We have funded a

         10  tank tightness testing contract to the tune of a

         11  million and a half dollars. We have spent and are in

         12  the process of spending 6.3 million to remediate our

         13  existing tanks. We are down to the point as we speak

         14  with you today, we have to our knowledge no more

         15  than seven tanks that are underground tanks that

         16  have not been remediated as of this point and time.

         17  We have $400,000 in funding which we have agreed

         18  with DDC, if they will act as our contractor to

         19  remediate the seven tanks and I have been advised by

         20  Luis, the Commissioner, that they will be moving on

         21  that in this month.

         22                 So, we anticipate that the design

         23  work will be done this month and that the

         24  remediation will be done shortly thereafter by going

         25  out to contract for the replacement of those seven
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          2  tanks.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I think you have

          4  alluded to that fact that we are not just talking

          5  about removal of tanks, but basically what we are

          6  trying to find out is there a problem with the

          7  tanks, leak detection, whether or not the tanks are

          8  made --

          9                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Again, as I said,

         10  we have a tank tightness testing contract, we have

         11  gone through all of that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: There are

         13  sophisticated new types of leak detection.

         14                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Right. But I

         15  can't speak for other agencies because I don't know

         16  what they have done, and I have to reach out to

         17  that. You certainly have a better ability to do that

         18  than I do directly.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That's correct.

         20                 Did you want to add something?

         21                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: No. Again, what I

         22  think we are saying is, that I am unhappy that we

         23  didn't meet the December 20 or 22 deadline and had

         24  seven tanks that were still remaining, but I am very

         25  pleased that it is only seven tanks and that within
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          2  the next 60 to 90 days we expect to see ourselves

          3  well on the way to remediation.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And not only am

          5  I concerned with the City-owned tanks, but I am also

          6  concerned with all the privately-owned tanks

          7  throughout the City and that is why I am concerned

          8  that we don't have more and more inspectors, though

          9  I assume that the state is having their inspectors

         10  look at least the stringent state law.

         11                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: It's a federal

         12  requirement, and the federal government has, as I am

         13  sure you are well aware, minimal inspection

         14  capability. They will either go out with a contract

         15  or they may delegate that responsibility to the

         16  state.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: No, the state

         18  can't have it because we haven't passed proper

         19  enabling legislation. That is one of the problems we

         20  have in Albany which I have discussed with DDC. But

         21  the fact of the matter is that the State does have a

         22  law with respect to underground tanks, and we in the

         23  City of New York also have, the Fire Department has

         24  some very stringent laws on that too.

         25                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Absolutely.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And it is

          3  important that until the feds come in, at least we

          4  make sure that the work is being done by them, if

          5  there is a danger here.

          6                 And what I am concerned about is to

          7  make sure there is sufficient funds to do what has

          8  to be done, because as you and I know, the cost of

          9  repairing a leaking tank is going to be a heck of a

         10  lot more than having to repair the tank.

         11                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: From the

         12  standpoint of our responsibility as an inspector of

         13  tanks in the event of a spill, we are very

         14  comfortable that in fact our workload will not only

         15  increase but will probably decrease by virtue of the

         16  federal regulation.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes.

         18                 And we certainly have enough to do

         19  with repairing water mains and such.

         20                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr. Sabini, do

         22  you want to inquire on this issue at all?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, fine, we

         25  will put you down for questions.
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          2                 Mr. Sabini, you can go right ahead.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you.

          4                 The chair raised the issues of tanks

          5  and the reason I didn't ask questions is that other

          6  agencies are actually more responsible of this point

          7  than you are for compliance.

          8                 The quality of life initiatives that

          9  have been stepped up leads me to questions about

         10  ECB, the caseload there is anticipated to increase

         11  and you have an additional allocation to the Board

         12  of about three-quarters of a million dollars. Has

         13  your headcount at ECB increased at all?

         14                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Again, I guess

         15  you were out of the room when that question was

         16  asked and answered, but the bottom line is that will

         17  permit us to basically have more per diem time from

         18  the existing per diem employees who are presently

         19  acting as our ALCs.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: That's the

         21  answer you gave last year, so.

         22                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: The answer is

         23  that is what it is and we are anticipating that if

         24  we need it, we now have it in our budget. If we

         25  don't need it, obviously we won't expend it.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Is the wait

          3  time increasing at all?

          4                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Say that again?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: The wait time

          6  for hearings? If you come in with a ticket, do you

          7  have to wait more based on the caseload level going

          8  up?

          9                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: I will let Ann

         10  answer that directly.

         11                 MS. McCARTHY: I am Ann McCarthy, the

         12  Director of ECB.

         13                 The wait time hasn't particularly

         14  increased. In particular in the Department of

         15  Buildings, we are working with the Buildings

         16  Department to ensure that the amount of time that

         17  people wait is much less, so for instance, if they

         18  come in and all they want is an adjournment, we make

         19  sure that that happens right away so they are not

         20  waiting for a long time.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right. But I

         22  am talking about if you have a hearing?

         23                 MS. McCARTHY: For a hearing? Waiting

         24  for a hearing?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Yes.
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          2                 MS. McCARTHY: It has not increased.

          3                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: The other thing

          4  that I think you probably should know is that we

          5  have a process where if for some reason or other you

          6  can't make the hearing, or we believe that the

          7  inspector is not going to be able to make the

          8  hearing, you can get that information by telephone

          9  and therefore we can delay the hearing, no one needs

         10  to come down and find out that the hearing is not

         11  going to take place.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Along the same

         13  vain regarding the quality of life, in the latest

         14  preliminary MMR, Air, Noise and Hasmat had 188, a

         15  headcount of 188 in Fiscal '98 and anticipated an

         16  increase to 211 in Fiscal '99, but actually the

         17  number went down. And since again there is an accent

         18  in the administration on this quality of life stuff,

         19  I am wondering where you are going with the

         20  headcount in Air, Noise and Hasmat?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Good

         22  morning, I am Bob Avaltroni, the Deputy Commissioner

         23  for Air Noise and Hazardous Materials.

         24                 With respect to the headcount, you

         25  are correct, Councilman. It is 183 as we speak.
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          2  However, we anticipate a number of personnel to be

          3  freed up very shortly, which will enhance our

          4  inspectorial force. Those are as a result of

          5  backfills for positions, as you said we went down

          6  from 188 to 183. In addition to that we will be

          7  filling supervisory positions which we feel are

          8  necessary to certainly keep up with the progress we

          9  have made with regard to quality of life

         10  initiatives.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Does your

         12  answer indicate -- you say backfill, are they going

         13  to come from somewhere else in the agency?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: No,

         15  what you suggested originally was that in fact our

         16  headcount was budgeted for 211, we have never been

         17  there. We are moving up from the 183. I just

         18  suggested we are bringing on people who we feel are

         19  capable of performing the task that we have

         20  suggested.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: New hires.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: New

         23  hires, as well as advancing people through the

         24  ranks, and that creates a career path which is

         25  motivating as well.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: When do you

          3  think you are going to get to 211?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: I

          5  don't know that we are going to get to 211 real

          6  quickly, and I don't know that we need to be at 211,

          7  it is something we need to revisit, but I know that

          8  we have pending personnel issues right now that will

          9  bring us above the 188.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I think the

         11  211 number comes out of the agency. It comes from

         12  the MMR, and I assume your agency came up with the

         13  number.

         14                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Historically,

         15  though, because of people leaving an agency, being

         16  promoted, et cetera, there is always a percentage of

         17  those slots that are vacant at any particular point

         18  in time. So, even though you have them, you rarely,

         19  if ever, get up to the full number anyhow.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Understood.

         21                 With regard to water rates,

         22  understanding that the Water Board actually sets the

         23  rates but the agency is intimately involved in the

         24  operation of the Water Board, last year New Yorkers

         25  paid an increase of 4.9 percent. This year your
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          2  testimony indicates it will be around 5.4 percent.

          3  What does that mean to the average home-owner in

          4  terms of dollars and cents? And what is the cause of

          5  these comparatively dramatic increases?

          6                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Well, first of

          7  all, I wouldn't characterize them as dramatic

          8  increases given what we are dealing with.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Comparatively,

         10  the past years.

         11                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: First of all, the

         12  number of 4.9 percent is incorrect. The increase

         13  last year was 4.0 percent.

         14                 If you recall, at one hearing we came

         15  to we were carrying a tentative number of 4.9. When

         16  the Board finally set its rate based upon the

         17  projections of income being, turning into actual

         18  income, we were able to bring it down to 4.0

         19  percent.

         20                 We have indicated again that we have

         21  a higher number for this year. We are normally

         22  cautious, since we are dealing with bond-holders and

         23  people in the financial market, so we generally do

         24  no sharpen our pencil in the beginning. We generally

         25  try to be conservative in the beginning and then
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          2  work down from there.

          3                 The net impact on an average

          4  rate-payer would be in the neighborhood of $20 to

          5  $21 of a four percent, four and a half percent

          6  increase.

          7                 .

          8                 By the way, I don't have a tremendous

          9  amount of input at the Water Board or at the

         10  Authority itself, what we do is we provide them with

         11  their own information. They have their own

         12  consultants who tell them what the prudent thing to

         13  do is, to make sure that the bond rate that we pay

         14  remains in the five percent area.

         15                 If we started playing fast and loose

         16  with that, what would end up happening is there will

         17  be a double-whammy, we would start paying higher

         18  rates for our bonds instead of lower rates, and we

         19  would have to consequently keep raising the rates

         20  for the ratepayers.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay, thank

         22  you, Commissioner, for your usual fine work. It is

         23  no accident that you are located in the 25th Council

         24  district where fine work begins.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We are very happy

          3  in that Council district.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you.

          5                 In addition to Mr. Sabini, we are

          6  joined by Mr. Miller from New York, and the former

          7  Chairman of this Committee, Mr. Leffler, from the

          8  proud Borough of Queens. And Council Member Boyland,

          9  from Kings. Welcome.

         10                 Land remediation costs, without going

         11  into everything we are talking about, what role does

         12  the DEC play in monitoring the City's activity on

         13  inactive landfills?

         14                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We have coming to

         15  the table at this point, Joseph Ketas, who is

         16  responsible for that area.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Welcome.

         18                 MR. KETAS: DEC is basically our

         19  regulator. We have to get just about everything we

         20  do approved by them. We developed the remedial

         21  investigation plan, and we developed a remediation

         22  action itself and they watch us like a hawk and

         23  approve everything we do.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do they hold you

         25  up timewise or anything? Are they efficient in
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          2  giving you the permission to do what you want to do?

          3                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: On advice of your

          4  Commissioner, don't answer that question. The answer

          5  is it is regulatory process, sometimes it can be

          6  difficult for the regulated, on the other hand, this

          7  is one agency that is both the regulator and

          8  regulated and therefore we have some sympathy with

          9  the problems from both ends.

         10                 It obviously adds some time to the

         11  process.

         12                 In many cases we would like to move

         13  forward faster than we can get an okay from them,

         14  but they have a job to do and as they perceive it,

         15  they do it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: In other words,

         17  don't make waves.

         18                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: I didn't say

         19  that, you did.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Is that the

         21  equivalent, by the way, of a new type of Fifth

         22  Amendment?

         23                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Absolutely.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay.

         25                 How are we doing on the MOA, the
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          2  watershed agreement. I am not going to let you just

          3  sit there without --

          4                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Speaking

          5  generally I can tell you we have met every milestone

          6  in the MOA to date. We are looking at, I guess the

          7  mid-point of the first five-year filtration

          8  avoidance period, and we expect that there will be a

          9  fairly substantial view by everyone involved in that

         10  process and possibly -- Mark, do you want to make

         11  some comment about where we are going with that?

         12                 MR. HOFFER: Good morning, Mr.

         13  Chairman and members of the Council.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You don't see

         15  him too often but --

         16                 MR. HOFFER: My name is Mark Hoffer, I

         17  am the General Counsel of the agency.

         18                 Just echoing what the Commissioner

         19  has said, overall we are doing very well under the

         20  MOA in terms of the land acquisition, in terms of

         21  regulatory enforcement, and in terms of getting the

         22  partnership programs up and running in the manner in

         23  which the agreement contemplates that they be run.

         24                 We have met the first year land

         25  solicitation target. We are well on our way towards
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          2  meeting the target for the second year. On

          3  enforcement we have issued over a thousand of

          4  notices of violation, notices of failure on various

          5  infractions under the regulations, including failing

          6  septic systems and construction without proper DEP

          7  approvals.

          8                 The Partnership programs are

          9  beginning to gather steam. The septic repair program

         10  in particular has been very, very active, in

         11  addition to the program that calls for building new

         12  structures to contain salt and road de-icing

         13  materials. We are busy with our principal partner,

         14  the Catskill Watershed Corporation, in making sure

         15  that the balance of the program gets off the ground

         16  smoothly as well. We are consulting closely with

         17  them on the Catskill fund for the future, on

         18  stormwater controls in particular and on several of

         19  the other programs, and in general I think it is

         20  fair to say that the overall picture is good. EPA I

         21  think is generally pleased with the progress that we

         22  have made. I won't say that there aren't dips and

         23  bumps in the road, as there always are, with an

         24  agreement of this complexity, but overall we are now

         25  about two years into the process and from my
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          2  perspective, from the agency's perspective, the

          3  agreement is beginning to achieve what we want it to

          4  achieve, namely protecting water quality, getting us

          5  out from under the burden of building a filtration

          6  plant and hopefully over time, building a

          7  relationship with our upstate neighbors, which will

          8  be much better than the relationship we enjoyed in

          9  the past.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I don't want

         11  this to substitute for a full-fledged hearing which

         12  we will probably have in the future, so I just

         13  wanted to get an overall picture from a financial

         14  point of view, considering this is a budgetary

         15  hearing.

         16                 We are in good shape financially? I

         17  know what we have done, because we used to always

         18  come in quite often and ask you where are we on land

         19  acquisition in the amount of money we are spending,

         20  but there has been general acceptance of the

         21  substituting from land acquisition for environmental

         22  easements, because we now are using the issue of

         23  environmental easements to a greater extent than

         24  ever before?

         25                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: To the extent
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          2  that we can get people to accept them, we are

          3  pushing environmental easements.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Rather than land

          5  acquisitions?

          6                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Rather than land

          7  acquisition.

          8                 Now, if someone wants to relocate to

          9  California, they don't want an easement, they want

         10  out, they want us to take title, that's fine.

         11                 On the other hand, there are a lot of

         12  people who have been in that land for hundreds of

         13  years with their families, obviously, and to a large

         14  extent that we can, for people who want to remain in

         15  the watershed, living there with their family,

         16  continuing for generations, easement obviously is

         17  the best way to go because if the value of the

         18  property is reduced by one-third by virtue of the

         19  environmental easement, we pay the one-third, and

         20  then we pay one-third of the taxes on the property

         21  from the forward.

         22                 So anyone who really has no intent to

         23  develop property, but would like to remain on it and

         24  remain in control of it, that is obviously the way

         25  to go.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The money that

          3  we have set aside in the future for actual land

          4  acquisitions is going to probably be less, in the

          5  sense that easements are less costly.

          6                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: That's absolutely

          7  correct. Obviously we can control more land if we

          8  are paying only a third of the value of the land, or

          9  half the value of the land, depending on the value

         10  of the easement, so we get the ability if people are

         11  willing to sell it to us, or to give us easements,

         12  to control greater areas of property.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Is the cost of

         14  monitoring the easement, or making sure they are in

         15  compliance, more difficult than with the land

         16  acquisition?

         17                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Absolutely not.

         18  Because if we have a land acquisition, now we have

         19  to manage the land. I mean, we have a never-ending

         20  responsibility. Because with an easement we have got

         21  an owner on site who is concerned about that piece

         22  of property, and we only need to visit it on an

         23  irregular basis, and I can tell you if someone gives

         24  us an environmental easement and one of the

         25  neighbors sees that that is not being complied with,
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          2  we will probably get a call from the neighbors

          3  saying, you know, that doesn't comply with the

          4  easement.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Has that in fact

          6  been the case?

          7                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Well, I think we

          8  are too early to tell you that, but I think the

          9  answer is that human nature being what it is, if I

         10  have got a vista behind my home and you are starting

         11  with an environmental easement to do something to

         12  destroy that vista, I am going to go out and do

         13  whatever I can to make sure I protect it, so we are

         14  comfortable with that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Filled with

         16  common sense.

         17                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Yes. And it is.

         18  And again, we are not the only people in the

         19  watershed, there are all kinds of other people up

         20  there, a lot of them, as has been brought out in the

         21  memorandum of agreement negotiations, people who

         22  care about that land, care about that water, and

         23  wish to continue --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And I think

         25  there is a lot less resentment on the fact of the
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          2  easements --

          3                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Yes, that's true.

          4  We have to be very sensitive to the fact that our

          5  relationship with those people has not been a good

          6  one in the past, and that while it has improved

          7  dramatically, we have to do everything we can to

          8  continue to maintain that balance where they

          9  recognize this is a partner, not the enemy.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Have there been

         11  any incidents which set us back in the

         12  relationships?

         13                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Well, there are

         14  always, as you have heard from Counsel there are

         15  always gives and takes. Somebody gets excited

         16  because we are giving the farm away, we are

         17  permitting development all over the world --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am not talking

         19  about that. I am talking about with respect to the

         20  acquisition of property?

         21                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: No, we have had

         22  no difficulty with that at all.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am not going

         24  to get into it too much, except Bill, do you want to

         25  add something?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Please do.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: Yes. I

          4  am William Stasiuk, I am the Deputy for Water Supply

          5  Quality and Protection.

          6                 In addition to what Mark mentioned,

          7  we have actually purchased, or have under contract

          8  14,000 acres of land. There is an additional 1,500

          9  acres waiting in the wings for conservation

         10  easements in addition to that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do we have any

         12  idea as to what we feel we are going to need in

         13  total when we are finished with acquisitions and

         14  easements?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: Well, as

         16  far as that $250 million will go, and if EPA then

         17  requires us to spend the other 50 million that is

         18  outside.

         19                 Right now it is going on average at a

         20  rate of about $2,500 an acre. That is a little

         21  biased by buying a lot of land in West Branch

         22  Reservoir, which is more expensive than west of the

         23  Hudson. So, we can make projections as to how far

         24  that would go.

         25                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: I think you can
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          2  put this, though, in the puzzle. The State owns

          3  around 26 percent of the land in the watershed. We

          4  own around six percent of it.

          5                 We think we would like to own around

          6  16 percent of it, so we are looking to pick up

          7  around another ten percent.

          8                 Whether that will happen given 250

          9  million or 300 million remains to be seen. On the

         10  other hand, I think that whatever we pick up will

         11  have a marked impact on the quality of our water

         12  because we know that there will be no further

         13  development there, and as a consequence we can

         14  pretty much judge my modeling, you know, what the

         15  impact is going to be there.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: The

         17  other elements that are really moving along, are the

         18  agricultural program is right on target, the Sewage

         19  Treatment Plant Upgrade Program has reached the

         20  point --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: When you say the

         22  agricultural, are you talking about the whole farm?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: The

         24  whole farm program.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That's outside
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          2  of it, isn't it?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: That's

          4  correct. But it is part of the overall program that

          5  is tied into the filtration avoidance determination,

          6  which is part of the MOA.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Of course, it is

          8  very important.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: The

         10  Sewage Treatment Plant Upgrade Program, which is a

         11  major step towards protecting and enhancing the

         12  already good water quality, is at the point now

         13  where contracts are being entered into between

         14  engineering firms and the communities.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Are there any

         16  new sewage treatment plants being built up there?

         17                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: No.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I know that was

         19  one of the great fears of some of the critics,

         20  saying that we have not prohibited in the MOA the

         21  building of sewage treatment plants.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: There

         23  are no municipal sewage treatment plants. There have

         24  been some commercial developments that have been

         25  proposed. Minor ones have been approved, others have
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          2  not been approved at this point.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So you are not

          4  anticipating anything like that happening.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: Well, it

          6  depends on the pressure of development, anything

          7  that goes in is going to meet the very, very

          8  stringent standards.

          9                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Part of the

         10  agreement, though, is that there is a wastewater

         11  treatment plant of X gallons and the case can be

         12  made that there should be an increase in that when

         13  we rebuild it. We are looking at those, you know,

         14  also.

         15                 We are not aware at this point of

         16  anyone who has asked for a new system.

         17                 Go ahead.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: The last

         19  thing is that we have a number of best management

         20  practices that we are putting in right around

         21  Kensico Reservoir, which as you know is a very

         22  sensitive reservoir. Contracts are in the process of

         23  being let for carrying out the first of those best

         24  management practices.

         25                 All in all, we are seeing, all of the
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          2  things that were part of the MOA, moving forward in

          3  a very positive way, on schedule.

          4                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: For information

          5  also, we own seven wastewater treatment plants

          6  ourselves in the watershed. Seven, plus a large

          7  sanitary system, I guess is the best way to describe

          8  it.

          9                 All of those, except one, they are

         10  either completed or almost at the point where they

         11  will be totally completed and presently operating in

         12  an upgraded mode as we speak, the last one is in

         13  design right now, and as soon as the design is

         14  completed we will go out and bid that. That will

         15  make a major difference because the quality of the

         16  effluent will go from a removal rate of around 50 to

         17  55 percent at a maximum under the old system to 95

         18  to 98 percent under the new, and that is a permanent

         19  improvement that for all time will be in the

         20  watershed. So, we are not holding ourselves, but we

         21  are actually improving the quality.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And with respect

         23  to, and this is the last question on this issue,

         24  with respect to the degree of the Hillview

         25  Reservoir, the last hearing we had my recollection
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          2  was that you were satisfied that the remedial

          3  efforts were keeping the birds away so-to-speak, and

          4  that we may not need to put a cover over that plant,

          5  and the consequent costs of that.

          6                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: I will have

          7  someone discuss with you the cost of it and tell you

          8  where we are at this point with that. We have not

          9  reached absolute closure yet on that, and that is

         10  not a pun, by the way.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But it was very

         12  good anyway.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLIO: I am

         14  Bob Garafolio, Deputy Commissioner for Environmental

         15  Engineering.

         16                 We have completed our decision-making

         17  process. We did decide for the concrete cover as

         18  being the most secure and the most practical.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: If necessary.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLIO: Excuse

         21  me?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: If necessary.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLIO: If

         24  necessary. We have proceeded with design of that

         25  cover, and we are close to completion of that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            79

          1  DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  design. We are on a parallel track pursuing

          3  avoidance of covering. We are making some progress

          4  with State DOH we believe on that issue. We have

          5  developed computer models of the reservoir.

          6                 We have demonstrated physically that

          7  we can protect the reservoir with the measures,

          8  management practices that we have implemented to

          9  date. The question revolves around whether those

         10  management practices will be sufficient under all

         11  climatic rainfall conditions that could exist or

         12  could happen.

         13                 The model will allow us to test all

         14  of those parameters, all of those conditions, run

         15  all of those scenarios.

         16                 The State is satisfied with the

         17  model, it has been tested and calibrated. We are

         18  running the scenarios now. We very shortly hope to

         19  have a meeting with the state to discuss this and

         20  reach a final agreement.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: This is a

         22  computer model?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLIO: It is

         24  a computer simulation, yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And what would
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          2  be the cost of putting a concrete cover, if we had

          3  to do it?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLIO:

          5  Currently estimated at around $300 million.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And what would

          7  be the time period that it would take to put it on?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLIO:  I

          9  think it is around five or six years. And that is

         10  variable as well, based on the need to keep the

         11  reservoir in service during the summer months. If we

         12  can take other measures within the system to allow

         13  us to keep the reservoir out of service for a

         14  continuous period of time by ensuring sufficient

         15  water supply to this City without each basin, both

         16  basins of the reservoir being in service, we will

         17  then be able to accelerate the construction and

         18  significantly reduce the cost.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What is the

         20  other method that is being used right now that we

         21  think may very well be successful in avoiding the

         22  problem? What are you doing now?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLIO: It is

         24  chlorination techniques, better mixing for the

         25  chlorine within the reservoir, measures to keep the
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          2  birds away from the reservoir.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Such as?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLIO: Bird

          5  wires, noise.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Hawks?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLIO: No

          8  hawks yet. We didn't bring them anyway.

          9                 Those are some of the things that we

         10  have been using to maintain water quality.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And they appear

         12  to be working.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLIO: They

         14  appear to be working very well.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: These are

         16  employed over a two-year period, three years we have

         17  employed these --

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLIO: At

         19  least three years.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: The

         21  incidence of chlorination is right down to where it

         22  went down to three years ago, much, much lower than

         23  it was five, six years ago when we had the problem.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The feds are

         25  aware of this?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: Oh,

          3  absolutely.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr. Leffler.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Thanks.

          6                 Good morning, Commissioner, Diana,

          7  friends with whom I have worked over the years.

          8                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Good morning.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I have the

         10  sense that this, unlike a lot of other agencies, is

         11  sort of a hold-the-line budget where the changes

         12  are, peg changes are small and basically, you know,

         13  almost accounting moves of changing expense items to

         14  capitally eligible and therefore saving on paper

         15  expense dollars, which is nice.

         16                 On matters that have just recently

         17  been raised, one, the water rates, that John Sabini

         18  was going through, the impact of the bill that we

         19  passed four five years ago, in 1994, Intro. 72-A,

         20  which would provide that the rates were set after

         21  the capital budget was done so that the Council

         22  would have more chance to control the budget, to

         23  control the rates. Since 4.9 percent is actually,

         24  you know, to a lot of people in the City a real

         25  increase, you know, beyond inflation, which is
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          2  running at less than two percent, even though I

          3  recognize that these things are justified and

          4  necessary, so it's a balancing act, we are dealing

          5  with a Fiscal Year 2000 budget; are you still

          6  planning in Fiscal Year 2000 to revert, to follow

          7  that law which would provide for setting the water

          8  rates after the Capital Budget?

          9                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: At this point in

         10  time we still need to get the frontage bills down to

         11  a point where we are comfortable with them. While we

         12  have got contracts in place as we speak now to move

         13  forward on the water metering role, contracts that

         14  we had difficulty getting into place and we

         15  discussed that at previous hearings, we are now

         16  comfortable that the contracts are in place, are

         17  being used, including pit meters. And consequently,

         18  we are hopeful that we will see a marked reduction

         19  in the amount of frontage bills that we have in the

         20  next year or so. But as we speak at this point in

         21  time there has been no substantial reduction in

         22  that, and we still have an element of a fiscal

         23  responsibility that basically would cause us to have

         24  to raise the rates if we undertook to do that. The

         25  Board has indicated it is not willing to do that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Not willing

          3  to do that?

          4                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: It's not willing

          5  to do that at this time.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I see.

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I

          8  just met with the Board and the Board is reviewing a

          9  letter at this point that we will send to you,

         10  Councilman, to address this issue.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Yes, please.

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: But

         13  we basically are still in the position, as the

         14  Commissioner described, which is the Board believes

         15  strongly that we would have to have a rate increase

         16  to accommodate it because of the frontage versus

         17  metered billing issue still not being resolved at

         18  the level that it needs to be, and therefore they

         19  are extremely reluctant. They do not want to change

         20  the process because they believe that there would be

         21  a rate increase based on that and they don't want to

         22  have any further rate increase than currently.

         23                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Than necessary.

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHAPIN:

         25  Yes, than necessary.
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          2                 I also believe that two-thirds of the

          3  budget, as you know, we have discussed prior, is

          4  driven by federal and state mandates and you do know

          5  the components of our budget and we do bring them to

          6  you, and obviously if you have concerns about the

          7  amount we are spending, what we spend on the other

          8  third is water mains, sewers, catch-basins, other

          9  programs.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: It is not me

         11  so much, Diana. I know you, I know Joel, and I have

         12  confidence that you work hard at doing basically a

         13  good job. I think the public at large, as you know,

         14  has a lot of questions with respect to the water

         15  rates and water rate increases, and you know, we are

         16  in the service business and when you ask to change

         17  that means of setting the water rates two years ago,

         18  you revised projections, and you, not me, you came

         19  out that in Fiscal Year 2000 you would be able to go

         20  over to the new system, and now what you are saying

         21  again is that you still don't think in Fiscal Year

         22  2000 -- this is to a large extent a dollars and

         23  cents issue so you have to give us this thing so we

         24  can study it. It should also go to the central

         25  Council staff because these are revenue-type issues
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          2  to whether we can in fact do that.

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHAPIN:

          4  Yes, we don't have any problem in telling you where

          5  we are at on that issue. And it has not been

          6  resolved, and you are correct that earlier on, we

          7  had projected being able to resolve it by this time

          8  and we have not gotten there, that is quite true.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Okay.

         10                 Just moving on, I have still gotten

         11  correspondence recently from the Hazardous Materials

         12  Advisory Board that they still think that they need

         13  more inspection than they are getting. Are you

         14  familiar with that?

         15                 They are set up so you consult with

         16  them. They are experts, they are supposed to follow

         17  this.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Yes.

         19  Again, Bob Avaltroni, Deputy Commissioner, Air,

         20  Noise and Hazardous Materials. I have no idea what

         21  you are referring to.

         22                 In fact, I have offered several times

         23  to sit down and speak with you with regard to our

         24  practice with respect to RTK. If you have a concern,

         25  or if others have a concern, I would be glad to
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          2  visit that.

          3                 The progress again that we are making

          4  in that area, in fact I have heard nothing but the

          5  opposite.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Let me tell

          7  you --

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I promise

         10  you, I don't concoct these things, these things are

         11  on tape, it would be foolish for me to d so, I would

         12  undermine credibility.

         13                 I get correspondence from your, the

         14  City's Hazardous Materials Advisory Board, that

         15  there is need for additional inspection. Why don't

         16  you consult your advisory board and you will see

         17  that they are telling us that there is a need for

         18  more inspection.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI:

         20  Council Member, I am not suggesting at all that you

         21  are concocting the story. I have asked you on

         22  numerous occasions to communicate those issues to

         23  me, I have had silence. In fact, I don't know what

         24  you are referring to. In fact, we have made major

         25  progress in RTK that goes beyond anybody's
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          2  expectations.

          3                 So, if you do have a problem or if

          4  anyone has a problem or a suggestion, as I have

          5  discussed in the past, I would be happy to address

          6  that with you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Okay. The

          8  suggestion is to take on more inspectors and to do

          9  more inspections with respect to hazardous materials

         10  in the City, so that we avert the occasion of fire

         11  or explosion or the like that we see happening

         12  nearby, which can happen here.

         13                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Council Member, I

         14  have no recollection of what the Hazardous Materials

         15  Advisory Board is or whose Advisory Board it is. Nor

         16  do I recall ever receiving anything that I got from

         17  them that said that there was a need to do anything.

         18                 So, I would be very pleased to get a

         19  copy of whatever you have got from them.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I will send

         21  it to you. And you will look at it.

         22                 And just the last question, you were

         23  discussing, and I thought it was good, in response

         24  to Chairman Michels' questions about protecting the

         25  watershed. But you know, NRDC came out with a report
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          2  recently which asserted that the system -- and it

          3  seemed to be in conflict with the testimony right

          4  here. It asserted that with all the measures that

          5  you have planned now you in fact are not going to be

          6  maintaining the quality of the water at the level

          7  needed to avert filtration. So, why the disparity?

          8  You have gone over the disparity, right?

          9                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: I don't

         10  understand how that came out of what we said here

         11  because I don't think anyone said anything like that

         12  here.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: No, I am

         14  saying what was just said was that you have a system

         15  in place that will be sufficiently protective. You

         16  have got modeling and the like, I thought that is

         17  what the testimony was.

         18                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: If you are

         19  talking about the Croton system, what we said is we

         20  have modeling in place that will give us answers as

         21  to whether the hope and expectation that we can come

         22  up with something other than filtration for the

         23  Croton system will bear fruit, the answer is it

         24  hasn't borne any fruit yet. And if it doesn't start

         25  bearing fruit real quick, it is going to be overcome
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          2  by events because we are going to have to start

          3  building the filter.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I see.

          5                 So, you are not confident then that

          6  you have a system that will in fact avert

          7  filtration?

          8                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: I am sorry, say

          9  that again.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Is

         11  this the NRDC report?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Yes.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: The NRDC

         14  report deals with Kensico and West Branch basins. It

         15  doesn't have anything to do with Croton and

         16  filtration avoidance on Croton. It has to do with

         17  the current filtration avoidance for the Catskill

         18  Delaware, the big one.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Right.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: That

         21  report gives a very poor representation of what the

         22  vacant land situation is in the Kensico basin. It

         23  gives an improper recognition of what we are doing

         24  with regard to buying that vacant land. It doesn't

         25  reflect the educational efforts and the
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          2  self-generated efforts by industry in the watershed,

          3  which was highlighted in a report, to put in

          4  pollution prevention measures, and it doesn't talk

          5  about the best management practices that we are

          6  putting in to protect the lands that are developed

          7  on an existing basis.

          8                 The whole report which we are doing a

          9  detailed response to, as far as we are concerned, is

         10  off the mark. So we don't believe it has any

         11  credibility.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: But is its

         13  basic conclusion correct, that in fact what we have

         14  now in place and what we are putting in place,

         15  offers no assurance that we are in fact going to be

         16  able to protect the watershed sufficient to avert

         17  filtration.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: I think

         19  that is wrong. I think that is completely wrong.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Well, what is

         21  right then?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: What is

         23  right is that unless some rule dramatically changes

         24  and the parameters change, whereby judgment is made

         25  as to when filtration is required, what we have in
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          2  place will allow us to avoid filtration. The water

          3  quality meets all the current standards. Existing

          4  lands are going to be retrofitted in Kensico basin,

          5  and in other areas within the watershed. New lands

          6  are going to be developed only if they comply with

          7  our stringent rules and regulations. All of that is

          8  going to make the existing good water quality better

          9  than it currently is.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: There are

         11  always efforts at the federal level to raise the

         12  water quality standards. Will this assure compliance

         13  with likely changes in water quality?

         14                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: You are asking me

         15  how high is up is what you are really saying. I

         16  don't know the answer to that. That is one of the

         17  things we have to value in our evaluation of whether

         18  we should fight hard for filtration avoidance or we

         19  should recognize that we need the filtration.

         20                 On the other hand, the response to

         21  the NRDC report, would you see that it gets to the

         22  Council Member and to the Committee, please?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: Yes,

         24  absolutely.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: But what is
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          2  the -- I mean, this is a major budget issue as to

          3  whether you have in place and are putting in place

          4  matters that will avert filtration, you know, down

          5  the line, taking account of likely changes in

          6  federal regulations of water quality.

          7                 I mean, you know, you deal with EPA,

          8  you have a sense what is being seriously discussed

          9  as to what the water quality standards are going to

         10  be five and ten years from now. So, do we have a

         11  system that will avert filtration? Or are we buying

         12  a lot of land and then five, ten years from now we

         13  are going to say, well, sorry, we bought a lot of

         14  land but it didn't work.

         15                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Well, let me put

         16  it to you in I guess the simplest terms that I can.

         17                 The total cost of the MOA to the City

         18  of New York and its ratepayers at this point is

         19  about 1.5 billion, if we assume, worst case

         20  scenario, as you put it, that we are buying five to

         21  ten years, if we buy the five to ten years, the

         22  operating costs for a system in Croton are somewhere

         23  in the neighborhood of $200 million to $300 million

         24  a year. If it costs us $200 million to $300 million

         25  a year to operate that system, we are going to get
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          2  five years of delay in building it, we have saved

          3  the billion five that we have put in under the MOA.

          4  And what we have gotten out of that in most cases is

          5  much more rigorous regulation, which is a benefit

          6  for all time, we have bought hopefully another ten

          7  percent of the watershed, which is an improvement

          8  for all time, we have upgraded every single waste

          9  water treatment plant in the watershed, whether

         10  privately-owned, publicly-owned or ours, which is an

         11  improvement for all time, and obviously we are

         12  starting out with a better situation than we have

         13  got today, so we expect that the water quality will

         14  be bound up. That doesn't tell us though whether the

         15  federal government will come up with a criteria that

         16  says some obscure chemical which for some reason is

         17  only in our City water, has to be removed from the

         18  water and 40 years from now we have to end up

         19  building a filter to pull out that one particular

         20  element or chemical. We don't know that. We can make

         21  a best value judgment, and that is going to be

         22  factored into what we do when we make the final

         23  determination that there is no choice but to build

         24  the Croton filter or we believe we still have a

         25  fighting chance to eliminate the need for filtration
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          2  at this point in time.

          3                 And as I said earlier, and I

          4  apologize, you weren't in the room at the time, but

          5  I said if we are only going to delay a filter for

          6  ten or 15 years, I have to question whether we

          7  should be fighting so hard to do that. If we, in

          8  fact, are ultimately going to have to do it, it will

          9  probably cost us more money anyhow. So that is all

         10  part of the equation.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Council Member

         13  Boyland.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chairman. I will be brief in my comments.

         16                 In my community we are now looking at

         17  some development, housing development within my

         18  community. I know I addressed several letters to you

         19  in terms of dealing with the septic tank. When we

         20  are developing our housing we are finding that the

         21  flow of the sewage that is coming down within the

         22  community is being backed up at certain points

         23  because the pipes that were settled, made for

         24  certain, you know, if it was only 800 units at one

         25  time, now it is increased to 2,000 units. We are
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          2  finding that we are having a lot of difficulty

          3  because when it rains and things like that, there is

          4  sewage back-up.

          5                 And the gentleman that spoke last

          6  mentioned the increase of septic tanks within the

          7  community; where are we in terms of the funding for

          8  that?

          9                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: There is no

         10  increase in septic tanks within the City. In fact,

         11  there is a marked decrease as we extend our sanitary

         12  sewer system.

         13                 The sanitary systems we are talking

         14  about are up in the watershed where there isn't a

         15  large system of sanitary sewers, so it is in the

         16  City -- I can tell you clearly that we are

         17  eliminating, in fact we have a major program where

         18  we have extended our sanitary sewers past septic

         19  systems that have been in historically, we are now

         20  telling those folks they have six months to collect

         21  through our sewer and fill up their septic system

         22  and eliminate it.

         23                 On the other hand, if you have a

         24  local problem that relates, if we know what that is

         25  --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: You should

          3  have received our letters.

          4                 MR. GREELEY: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: We have

          6  correspondence. You have received the letters, okay.

          7                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Doug, do you know

          8  what she is talking about?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GREELEY: Yes.

         10                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Please respond.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GREELEY: Good

         12  morning. My name is Douglas Greeley, I am Deputy

         13  Commissioner for Water and Sewer Operations.

         14                 The project that you are speaking

         15  about is Saratoga Square.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Right.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GREELEY: And the

         18  problem that you are referring to is the issue of

         19  on-site detention, which is a property that is

         20  develops water and tries to discharge it to the

         21  storm system and the need to drain it is faster than

         22  the existing storm system will handle it, so we ask

         23  that someone put in on-site detention tank to

         24  balance out the difference in flows until the sewer

         25  can catch up.
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          2                 That may or may not be necessary in

          3  the Saratoga Square area. Some of the things that we

          4  are looking at, we have roughly 3,000 feet of sewer

          5  pipe to clean. We found that there are catch-basins

          6  connected to the sanitary system, and there are some

          7  problems we found with the developer in the

          8  residence, where there are things going into the

          9  sewer system that shouldn't.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I bring that

         11  up to say throughout New York City, not just my area

         12  in Brooklyn, but in Queens also, there is going to

         13  be a lot of development going on, so it is not just

         14  going to affect my district, you may have this same

         15  issue come up again in other districts that are

         16  developing new housing projects.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GREELEY: You are

         18  absolutely correct. There were different run-off

         19  factors for storm flow that were calculated. There

         20  was one factor for when people were assessed locally

         21  for the sewers in their street, and there is another

         22  factor now that the City just takes it and puts it

         23  in its capital budget, and there is a difference in

         24  the capacity. We are dealing with those and trying

         25  to find ways to --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: What we are

          3  trying to do is we are trying to encourage people

          4  from middle income now to buy housing and not to

          5  incur an expense that may be part of something that

          6  deals with the City, that it is taken care of as

          7  quickly as possible to bring more people within our

          8  community.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GREELEY: Quite

         10  so. Those things --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I just want

         12  to make sure we are on the same page.

         13                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We are. There is

         14  no question that as problems arise we will address

         15  them.

         16                 It is not unique. It is unique in

         17  your community because we are now aware of it.

         18                 As Doug indicated, his job is to make

         19  sure that we solve those problems.

         20                 That being said, I think it is

         21  important to reiterate again, and I say this

         22  virtually every time I get out in a public group,

         23  our sewers are designed to take a certain amount of

         24  rain water, and after that they are totally

         25  incapable of taking anything in addition.
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          2                 So, we do not give you a guarantee

          3  that we will never flood your streets with rain

          4  water, because if we did that, then we would have to

          5  have much higher water and sewer rates, because our

          6  sewers would have to be designed for a bigger storm.

          7                 We design essentially for two inches

          8  of rainfall in a 24-hour period. If we get four

          9  inches of rain fall in a 24-hour period, it has got

         10  to go someplace, it isn't going into the sewers

         11  because they are going to be full, it means it is

         12  going to spill out onto the streets.

         13                 We anticipate that we will have a

         14  problem infrequently over the years, and generally

         15  what we are looking at is you should not expect

         16  statistically to have problems like that, except

         17  once every ten or 15 years. Unfortunately in the

         18  last --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: We are now

         20  mixing, but I was under the understanding that the

         21  rainfall, the sewer, the lines are different than

         22  the household sewer lines, which is also --

         23                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: That is not true

         24  generally in the City. Most of the sewers that we

         25  have in the City are combined sewers. They take both
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          2  sanitary waste and storm, and that is because the

          3  age of the City.

          4                 As we run through the City and

          5  improve the system, if there is a logic to

          6  separating we do, if there isn't the logic to

          7  separating, we don't.

          8                 Generally the biggest problem is that

          9  we have mixed water in the sewers, not, you know,

         10  separate.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Okay,

         12  Commissioner, I look forward to working with you on

         13  that issue, and Doug.

         14                 Also, I just have another question

         15  about the Fiscal '99 budget. The school collection,

         16  you said for the first six months of the year that

         17  you are going to do special collection? Is that

         18  January through June?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS:  Collection of

         20  what?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Collection of

         22  trash.

         23                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: That's DOS. We

         24  are DEP.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Oh, I am
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          2  sorry. I am sorry.

          3                 As part of the Fiscal '99 budget, the

          4  City Council restored funding for special school

          5  collection for the first six months of the year --

          6                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Not my job. DOS.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Oh, sorry. I

          8  am looking at the thing.

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: You're welcome.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS:  In 1996,

         12  authorized is 1.75 billion in bonds to

         13  finance-related projects throughout the state; can

         14  you tell us what the outline of the categories of

         15  funding in proposed projects that DEP plans to apply

         16  for funding during this next fiscal year?

         17                 And how much of the funding did the

         18  Department already receive from that? And I might

         19  add parenthetically, that I think we have a greater

         20  call on that money than any other part of the State.

         21  Upstate rejected the bond issue and the City Council

         22  approved it, and since we in the City Council had a

         23  resolution approving it, and the Governor low and

         24  behold was sitting where you were sitting, he

         25  actually came and testified before this Committee,
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          2  which hardly anybody knows to this day.

          3                 Good morning, Sir.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

          5  Good morning. I am Assistant Commissioner Joe

          6  Singleton for Budget. I don't know the exact numbers

          7  off the top of my head of the 1.75, but I will give

          8  you rough outlines of the categories as I know them.

          9                 Some of the dollars are allocated

         10  towards specific projects, such as closure of

         11  Freshkills, school boilers, things of that nature.

         12                 The other money, as far as an

         13  allocation for set up of drinking water, revolving

         14  loan program and direct grants. Those monies are

         15  both competitive, in that --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You have to

         17  compete with other people.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         19  Exactly.

         20                 On the loan program, it's a one-third

         21  interest rate subsidy, and the City, we have done

         22  two loans with EFC on that program, totalling about

         23  $163 million. It's a great interest rate subsidy and

         24  New York City probably got have of the issuance thus

         25  far under that program.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What does the

          3  program do?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

          5  What the program does, it provides an interest rate

          6  subsidy on our bonds.

          7                 In other words, we can issue bonds

          8  through either Water Finance Authority bonds, or

          9  Environmental Facility Bonds.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Does it keep our

         11  water sewer rates lower?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         13  Exactly. It helps keep our --

         14                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Obviously,

         15  because it provides part of the cost of paying for

         16  the money.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It sounds like

         18  that.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: And

         20  the City takes advantage of those two programs.

         21                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: It is not a

         22  grant, which would be better, but it does help.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What interest

         24  rate? What is the interest rate?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: As
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          2  I said, it's one-third interest rate subsidy to the

          3  prevailing interest rate at that time.

          4                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: It is about

          5  one-third of five percent, basically is what it is.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It helps.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: The

          8  other component of the Bond Act is allocations for

          9  water quality by specific region. Lake Champlain,

         10  Paconic, East River, Hudson River, and the Sound.

         11  And we are in direct competition with other

         12  municipalities for those dollars as well, Nassau

         13  County, Suffolk County.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What I was

         15  asking you about was what monies are we getting?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: We

         17  have gotten a total of 11 grants thus far.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Over how much?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         20  Slightly over $15 million.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Can you give us

         22  the detail on this?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         24  Sure. I would be more than happy to send you a

         25  complete list of what we got.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And what we are

          3  getting, what we anticipate getting, and anything

          4  else you may have on that.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: I

          6  will send both a list of what we applied for to date

          7  and what we have in fact received dollars for.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And I just want

          9  to note for the record, so we all understand, none

         10  of this money can be used for the watershed. We

         11  cannot use it on the watershed. This money is not

         12  available to us.

         13                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: No, we are

         14  committed to put our own dollars into the MOA and we

         15  can't substitute any other money for that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I know that,

         17  that is why I made a statement for the record, it

         18  cannot be used for that. So, this is for over and

         19  above monies for that.

         20                 So you are going to get me a list of

         21  --

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: I

         23  will provide it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Let me know

         25  where we are on that.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: I

          3  will be more than happy to.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Give me a report

          5  on the monies that we have gotten from this bond

          6  issue and what we anticipate getting.

          7                 And our applications are on time?

          8  Knowing you guys, your applications are on time, we

          9  are not going to lose any money by failure to apply?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         11  They periodically issue set deadlines and we meet

         12  those deadlines.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, good.

         14  Because there is a lot of money in there and I don't

         15  want to lose any of that money.

         16                 Let's see now, the next question:

         17  Water conservation. The general question is now, how

         18  are we doing as far the reservoir is concerned, the

         19  capacity of reservoirs?

         20                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: The capacity of

         21  the reservoirs is about eight percent below normal

         22  as we speak today. Come up dramatically from about

         23  20 percent below normal. I don't know if you have

         24  been watching the weather forecast, but we are

         25  expecting rain this afternoon, I am very thrilled. I
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          2  am looking for a whole lot of it upstate, and just a

          3  little bit down here. My hope and expectation will

          4  come through.

          5                 We seem to be -- we are out of a

          6  drought warning, in the Delaware basin they are back

          7  out to normal because they have gotten considerable

          8  quantities of rain.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They no longer

         10  need our water to keep back the salts.

         11                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Well, they do,

         12  but we are giving them in fact -- actually, we are

         13  giving more than we were giving before, because once

         14  the warning went into effect, the amount of water

         15  that we let out of the Delaware system to go down

         16  the Delaware river was reduced, because they are out

         17  of the drought warning now it is back up and we are

         18  providing them with the full 800 million gallons a

         19  day?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: We are

         21  allowed to divert 800.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Eight-hundred

         23  million gallons a day.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: Right.

         25                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: And we are not
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          2  having to release anything to maintain the salt

          3  front. There is enough water coming into the lower

          4  basin to keep the salt front out all by itself.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Good.

          6                 And we still have much of the winter

          7  to go yet.

          8                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Well, we do, but

          9  this is the spring and we would normally expect to

         10  be getting rainfall and snowmelt, and we hope we

         11  will pick up, you know, sufficient to get it at

         12  least up to average. We would like to have it full

         13  by June 1st, the beginning of our new water year.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So we seem to be

         15  going all right.

         16                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We are headed in

         17  the right direction, let's put it that way.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You have several

         19  initiatives, directly or indirectly, to reduce water

         20  consumption, included water meter programming; do

         21  you believe that has been successful in reducing the

         22  water consumption?

         23                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Yes, we do. I

         24  mean, very clearly, if two people have homes,

         25  private homes, one has got a meter and one doesn't,
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          2  the individual who pays a frontage rate could care

          3  less how much water he uses or she uses.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That's logic,

          5  but do you have studies to show that?

          6                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We have anecdotal

          7  evidence that that is absolutely true because I can

          8  tell you of my own knowledge of people who said

          9  here, use my hose to wash your car because I am on

         10  frontage, okay?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And what do you

         12  say?

         13                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: I say pay your

         14  bill is what I say.

         15                 I mean, it is obvious, human nature

         16  being what it is, if you get an opportunity to buy

         17  it basically on a lump sum, you are not going to be

         18  very careful of it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We are spending

         20  a lot of money on water metering programs, and I

         21  just want to know that it is successful.

         22                 Logic dictates that it is successful,

         23  the question is whether it is or not.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We believe it

         25  has been successful because we are minimizing the
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          2  profligate user, the individual who is in a one-

          3  two-, or three-family house who has had a frontage

          4  bill. At this point in time those people are

          5  effectively almost all to a man or woman over the

          6  meters, they are paying a metered bill, and they are

          7  now concerned about how many gallons, not what I am

          8  paying for it.

          9                 We still have the mission of

         10  accomplishing the problem in the larger multiple

         11  dwellings. Other than that we are pretty much

         12  finished with the program.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So, about how

         14  many meters -- what percentage of the meters --

         15                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We still have I

         16  think 200,000 -- 170,000 meters that still need to

         17  be installed.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Still what?

         19                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Still need to be

         20  installed.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And what is the

         22  timetable on that?

         23                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Well, as fast as

         24  possible.

         25                 The contracts are out there. We have
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          2  some I think emotional and some human nature

          3  problems.

          4                 Do you want to discuss it a little

          5  bit?

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHAPIN:

          7  Tell what the progress is.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHATT: Larry

          9  Schatt, Deputy Commissioner for Customer

         10  Conservation Services.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Welcome.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHATT: We have

         13  had some problems in the past in contracting for pit

         14  meters, which many of you know is a meter that has

         15  to be installed on the outside of the building

         16  because the water service entering the building is

         17  either through a crawl space or through an area that

         18  is insufficient space to put a meter in.

         19                 We went for a number of years without

         20  having the ability, or we were unable to attract

         21  qualified installers. We have successfully bid out

         22  five contracts, one for each borough, for paid

         23  contractors this year. We have a large meter

         24  contract and a boroughwide small meter contract for

         25  each borough, so we have sufficient contracts in

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            113

          1  DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  place to install meters.

          3                 What we have is a perception problem.

          4  We have a lot of people who still believe that it is

          5  cheaper on frontage than on meter basis. Until they

          6  find out that their neighbor is paying $82 a quarter

          7  and they are paying $600 a year, so we are trying to

          8  change that perception through outreach efforts,

          9  through public presentations by the Commissioner and

         10  myself.

         11                 We are in the process of putting out

         12  an ad, or a public notice in local newspapers

         13  throughout the five boroughs, trying to once again

         14  attract homeowners to come forward and have the

         15  meter installed.

         16                 In terms of the conservation issue --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Excuse me.

         18                 They are required to have meters,

         19  right?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHATT: There is

         21  a Water Board rule that says if you refuse to

         22  install the meter, we can double your frontage

         23  charge.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Now, has that

         25  been instituted?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHATT: We have

          3  not done that as of yet. We believe there are still

          4  voluntary measures that can take place before we do

          5  that. It is a pretty dramatic effort, and would I

          6  think that the Council would have a great deal of

          7  their constituents coming forward and --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well, if they

          9  came to me I would say, well, you know, put a meter

         10  on it.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHATT: Right,

         12  and we agree, but we don't -- we think we can get to

         13  that point without being --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And how long are

         15  you going to be patient?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHATT: I think

         17  we are probably talking about through the end of

         18  this calendar year before we go ahead and move

         19  forward.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, as long as

         21  you do sufficient advertisement.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHATT: Yes. In

         23  terms of conservation --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Mr. Chairman,

         25  can I ask a question?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            115

          1  DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Walk me

          4  through on your local advertising --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: One second,

          6  Victor.

          7                 Did you finish your statement?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHATT: I am

          9  fine, yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: All right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Walk me

         12  through, I am curious in terms of when you say -- in

         13  some communities we don't have local papers, and in

         14  some communities you have language barriers.

         15                 I am assuming you are going to put

         16  into (speaking in Spanish) and what have you. But

         17  now when it comes to local papers, in North Brooklyn

         18  you have housing groups or local development groups

         19  that have a monthly paper; are you also reaching out

         20  to them?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHATT: Actually

         22  we would like to. If you can provide a list, or any

         23  of the Council members can --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Just make sure

         25  you give me your card.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHATT: I will do

          3  that.

          4                 The intent here is to reach as many

          5  people as possible, and advise them of both the

          6  rewards, especially small property owners who can

          7  benefit, and the penalties if they don't provide the

          8  access.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And let me ask

         10  you a question, since my area, and I see every --

         11  being on the Finance Committee, there is a lot of

         12  partnership housing being built, especially in North

         13  Brooklyn. Tell me the relationship with you and

         14  partnerships, so that when they build these

         15  two-family, three-family, single-family homes,

         16  instead of waiting until after it gets built and

         17  then say to them, oh, water metering, help me out -

         18  how do you work and coordinate with them so that

         19  before it gets built perhaps it can be done while it

         20  is being built.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHATT: It is a

         22  very simple answer. By law any new construction must

         23  have water meters installed, so the process works,

         24  the developer has a plumber or a plumbing contractor

         25  who comes to our agency, takes out a permit to
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          2  install water meters, but by law they have to

          3  install water meters in all new construction. You

          4  don't have the luxury of a frontage, it is a

          5  somewhat antiquated-type billing system. So, under

          6  Local Law 53, that has been in place for a number of

          7  years.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay, thank

          9  you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The other

         11  programs you have, leak detection program, leak

         12  response teams, hydrogen lock (sic) programs and

         13  water main replacement programs, these are all

         14  programs for water conservation, and I guess the

         15  question is, how are they doing and how do you

         16  quantify how they are doing and what indications do

         17  you have to tell us that these are successful

         18  programs?

         19                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Again, I think

         20  the proof of the pudding is, the water consumption

         21  in the City of New York has gone from somewhere in

         22  the neighborhood of 1.6 billion gallons a day, down

         23  to the neighborhood of 1.2 billion gallons per day.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I understand the

         25  drinking water is used by Coca Cola or Pepsi Cola.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Yes, they use our

          3  drinking water. They absolutely do.

          4                 Bottom line, though, is we have

          5  reduced the consumption by what appears to be 25

          6  percent and we are holding that number, which means

          7  that the programs are effective, that we are getting

          8  the bang for the buck out of those programs.

          9                 It is kind of counterproductive,

         10  though, because we set a rate per gallon, or 100

         11  gallons for water, and then we have our customers

         12  reduce the amount of water they use, in order to

         13  keep the same budget we kind of have to raise the

         14  price per gallon. That is part of what I think you

         15  see --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They are paying

         17  less, because they are paying for less --

         18                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: They are paying

         19  less in total, because they are consuming less

         20  water.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The rates are

         22  higher.

         23                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: And then the

         24  waster of water, of course, is paying much higher,

         25  because while he is still using the same amount of
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          2  water or maybe more, he has now had his price per

          3  100 gallons, you know, jacked up.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is the

          5  conservation method.

          6                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Yes. And that is

          7  where we get part of the four percent from, you

          8  know, to some extent. Because as we reduce the

          9  consumption of water, the price per gallon obviously

         10  has to go up in order to --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: If you can show

         12  that even though you raised the rates, the amount of

         13  money spent by the user is less, then I think that

         14  is a good argument.

         15                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: I don't know that

         16  it is less. Let's put it this way, we know what the

         17  impact is on a dollar basis on the average customer,

         18  so we can equate that to dollars, and the customers

         19  understand that. If you start talking about four

         20  percent increases and what have you, we sometimes

         21  lose them.

         22                 We generally say what the impact is

         23  on an annual basis, and if we have a proposed

         24  increase, we tell them what the additional impact

         25  will be in dollars.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is what I

          3  would like to know, as of last year what the

          4  projections are as to how it is going to impact the

          5  individual ratepayer as to what he is going to pay,

          6  and the increase --

          7                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: I think we

          8  indicated that --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And the way you

         10  are talking, there may even be a decrease for some

         11  people.

         12                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Well, at some

         13  point in time, if the regulators finally reach the

         14  point where they believe we have been regulated to

         15  death and we have put in everything we can,

         16  obviously we will be able to reduce water rates,

         17  because we have a very --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am not even

         19  talking about reducing the water rates, even though

         20  you keep the rates high, if they are using less

         21  water --

         22                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Then therefore

         24  they should be paying less.

         25                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: No, that doesn't
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          2  hold.

          3                 Again, if it costs me $100 to supply

          4  you with water, then the amount of water you use is

          5  totally independent of what I am going to charge you

          6  because I have got to charge you $100.

          7                 So, to be simplistic about it, every

          8  time we basically reduce the amount of water that is

          9  used, we are effectively raising the price per

         10  gallon for water, because we have to end up with the

         11  same budget.

         12                 If I could reduce my budget at the

         13  same time, that would be fine. But there is not a

         14  straight line there, there is an alternating line

         15  there.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I understand.

         17                 How many personnel do you assign to

         18  these various programs? Why don't you give us a

         19  breakdown on that.

         20                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We will give you

         21  a written breakdown.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We had a hearing

         23  and we had some very controversial testimony on the

         24  disposal of the grinders. Do we know, or have any

         25  idea what the effectiveness has been?
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          2                 Any detrimental effect you know of?

          3                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: No. We have had

          4  no detrimental effect, but I will tell you the

          5  number of grinders that have been permitted since

          6  the last time we talked you can understand why. If I

          7  remember correctly the number was, there were 156

          8  applications to install them and the total number of

          9  grinders installed so far has been 600.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do we have any

         11  knowledge if people are illegally installing these

         12  grinders?

         13                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Well, let me put

         14  it to you this way, we could go Saturday while I am

         15  chugging away on my treadmill and watching Good

         16  Morning America or I forgot, Weekend -- channel 4,

         17  Good Day news -- Home Depot was sitting there with

         18  one of their bright young installers explaining to

         19  the private property owner how he or she can install

         20  one of these things and buy it from Home Depot. So,

         21  I made little notes and Monday morning I called

         22  Gaston Silva and I said to him you better get a hold

         23  of Home Depot and let them know that you need a

         24  licensed electrician to do this, you need a permit

         25  and you need a licensed plumber.
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          2                 Do I suspect that there are illegal

          3  ones being installed? Yes. But let me tell you

          4  something: The process of installing that is not a

          5  simple job. It obviously requires an electrician, it

          6  requires some knowledge of plumbing, it requires

          7  your ability to climb underneath the kitchen sink

          8  and handle what generally tends to be old plumbing.

          9  It's a dirty job, it's a hard job.

         10                 On the other hand, I suspect there

         11  are probably unlicensed contractors out there who

         12  would be very pleased to install one for you if you

         13  asked them.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So, you know of

         15  no real problems?

         16                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: The bottom line

         17  is there is no impact on our sewer systems so far,

         18  and as we told you, we would continue to monitor

         19  that, we will continue to monitor that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr. Robles.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Commissioner,

         22  let me go into an area that has not been discussed

         23  yet, and let me begin on the positive side.

         24                 The Toilet Rebate Program, which I

         25  believe was the program that was very successful.
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          2  Let's put aside what recently has come up. Let me

          3  get to the first part; and that is, one, are we

          4  still looking to bring back or implement that

          5  program for those who perhaps did not take advantage

          6  of it?

          7                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: No. We believe

          8  that by replacing 25 percent of the water closets in

          9  the City of New York we have achieved the goal we

         10  needed to, which was to minimize or to reduce the

         11  amount of flow running into our wastewater treatment

         12  plants.

         13                 We are presently now operating below

         14  our permitted levels with each one of those plants

         15  and we are very comfortable about it.

         16                 On the other hand, the law requires

         17  that any new water closet installed, actually in the

         18  United States, is a low-flow toilet, and as a

         19  consequence we will see over a period of years the

         20  other 75 percent of those units replaced on an

         21  ongoing basis, so we don't anticipate there will be

         22  any difficulty with that at all.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Now, having

         24  said that, I am sure you have seen in the papers the

         25  allegations. If there is an ongoing investigation, I

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            125

          1  DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  can understand if you say you cannot comment. But on

          3  the allegations about the building managers and

          4  plumbers paying City workers, in terms of

          5  submitting, saying that they did the work but then

          6  they didn't, do you want to comment on that?

          7                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: I can give you

          8  some comment on it.

          9                 Again, it is an investigation in

         10  progress and I don't want to get too deeply into it.

         11  But I can state to you that at this point in time I

         12  am not aware of any City employee. There were

         13  contracted employees in the middle that the plumbers

         14  used that may have done, or appears that they may

         15  have done some things that were not appropriate.

         16                 On the other hand, our inspection

         17  with our own City people generally picked that

         18  material up and the discrepancies up. There has been

         19  no allegations, to the best of my knowledge and

         20  belief, against a City employee from the agency or

         21  anyplace else, related to the low-flow toilet

         22  system.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Chairman.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You are
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          2  perfectly welcome.

          3                 Water tunnel number three. What is

          4  the time for completion for the second phase of

          5  water tunnel number three?

          6                 It was supposed to be, as I

          7  understand it, the Year 2005.

          8                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: That's a little

          9  bifurcated. There are two sections to section two of

         10  tunnel three. One is the Brooklyn Queens --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is the

         12  first time in this Committee we have used the word

         13  "bifurcated".

         14                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: I apologize.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: No, I like the

         16  word myself.

         17                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Well, it could be

         18  trifurcated, but in this case it is bifurcated.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Bifurcated,

         20  right.

         21                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: The bottom line

         22  is, the Brooklyn Queens leg of that tunnel and at

         23  this point in time we project completing that before

         24  the end of the Year 2001, and then there is a

         25  Manhattan let of the tunnel, the lower Manhattan leg
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          2  of the tunnel, which would go down to right around

          3  where we are now, a little bit below down the west

          4  side and then kind of fish hook up the east side

          5  around the twenties I think -- thirties, my

          6  apologies.

          7                 That, we are looking at now.

          8  Originally we were going to start that this year,

          9  this calendar year. We have been looking at it to

         10  determine whether we should let it as two separate

         11  contracts, as we did in Brooklyn and Queens, working

         12  from two separate shafts, as we did in Brooklyn and

         13  Queens, or whether we should consider having one

         14  shaft as the shaft that supports the construction

         15  and have a single contractor or a team of

         16  contractors work both ways from that single shaft.

         17                 So, once we complete our analysis of

         18  that to determine where we get the best benefit --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Is the Brooklyn

         20  shaft done yet? Phase two?

         21                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We are working on

         22  the Brooklyn shaft contracts now.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The contracts

         24  are completed but the construction hasn't started

         25  yet?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: The construction

          3  hasn't started on some of the service shafts. The

          4  shafts that we use for the construction of the

          5  tunnel itself have been dug for quite some time.

          6                 In fact, the last I heard we were

          7  about 4,000 feet from Astoria where we would tie

          8  into section 1. And they are moving at a rate of a

          9  little better than 50 feet a day and we would

         10  anticipate that some time around June they will

         11  tunnel through into Astoria and we will have the end

         12  of the tunneling completed for the Brooklyn Queens

         13  leg.

         14                 The Brooklyn Tunnel is presently just

         15  about finished with lining, and concreted, and we

         16  now need to put in the service shafts to go down to

         17  that. We are setting up the contracts to do that as

         18  we speak. That is what we will need to go into place

         19  before we can start connecting them to the surface

         20  system.

         21                 The changes to the surface system

         22  where they will connect to these service shafts are

         23  now also in planning so that they will be available

         24  in 2001 to use --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Have there been

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            129

          1  DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  any other technological advances, other than the

          3  boring machine that you were using? Which may even

          4  bring us ahead of schedule.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLIO:  No,

          6  there is nothing quite that dramatic.  We have

          7  modified some of the concrete mixes that we were

          8  using in the tunnel, but the TBM is still the most

          9  effective method of tunneling at that depth.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, that's

         11  fine. So Manhattan, you still have decisions that

         12  have to be made in Manhattan?

         13                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Yes. And we

         14  expect to make that decision either very, very late

         15  this year, calendar year, or very, very early in the

         16  next calendar year.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, as long as

         18  we don't get shafted in the tunnel.

         19                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: That's not a pun,

         20  right?

         21                 In fact, we need to get shafted if we

         22  are going to get that water up.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The water main

         24  replacement program, how are we prioritizing --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Can I just ask
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          2  something else?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Certainly.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Commissioner,

          5  let me just share with you, and I just need you to

          6  perhaps -- because I had a shaft, actually I have

          7  two of them, to be honest --

          8                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: You were shafted

          9  twice.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Right.

         11                 There was a fire that took place

         12  around the Gowanus, downtown, and the Fire

         13  Department could not get to it. And I was notified

         14  by the police because on the Seigel White the

         15  decision was to lower down the fire people and then

         16  walk all the way to downtown.

         17                 The point I am trying to make was

         18  that people started calling because they saw all of

         19  these emergencies and they were about to tear down

         20  that cement wall. If something like that occurs

         21  again, what kind of notification are you going to

         22  have in place so that home owners around these

         23  shafts don't go crazy?

         24                 I mean, all we have been waiting for

         25  is the Year 2001 to convert that into greenery,
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          2  which I thank you because you gave me the status,

          3  but I mean it was really chaos and at the last

          4  moment the decision was made that they didn't have

          5  to go down there, but in the meantime you had all of

          6  these home-owners that were going crazy calling my

          7  office about what is going on. They thought it was

          8  an explosion.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Yes,

         10  what actually happened was that contractor was

         11  working at that location, some sparks -- he was

         12  welding something, some sparks set fire to some

         13  plastic and rubber at the base of the shaft, 23 B,

         14  which caused an extremely smoky condition.

         15                 Reports went out of all sorts of

         16  things, as you suggest they were initially reports

         17  of an explosion, there were reports of people

         18  trapped, none of which was true. There was no one in

         19  the shaft, at the bottom of the shaft at the time.

         20  The Fire Department responded. Apparently they

         21  received some of these erroneous reports. They

         22  responded en mass with tremendous response,

         23  hazardous materials people, emergency rescue people.

         24                 The decision was made, since there

         25  was nothing going on that was adverse to the
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          2  community or the tunnel or the workers to

          3  essentially just let the fire burn out, because the

          4  elevator was not working, it was too difficult to

          5  get down there.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: But I am not

          7  referring to where the actual smoke condition was.

          8  Somewhere along the line there was a decision made,

          9  and at Siegel and White, both fire personnel,

         10  environmental protection, City emergency respond,

         11  whatever you call it, were ready to actually have,

         12  what do you call it, cranes come in to actually

         13  knock down the wall to actually physically lower the

         14  emergency personnel. That is different from downtown

         15  where the actual incident took place.

         16                 My question is, if a similar

         17  situation should happen, how do we at least inform

         18  the community so that what took place doesn't happen

         19  again?

         20                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: One of the

         21  problems is, here is a case while I am the owner of

         22  the property, I am not the incident coordinator.

         23  When there is a fire, the Fire Department assumes

         24  command of the site. They are the people through

         25  whom and from which all of this information needs to
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          2  disseminate. If the Office of Emergency Management

          3  came on-site, they also would have such a

          4  responsibility.

          5                 We don't have the ability to make

          6  that response, but I will carry forward your concern

          7  to both the Fire Commissioner and the Office of

          8  Emergency Management, that it would be helpful if

          9  the community had more information.

         10                 Part of the problem is, I think the

         11  Fire Department, and I don't want to characterize

         12  this as an overreaction, this was a situation that

         13  no one had ever thought for the New York City Fire

         14  Department, and I think the feeling was, as strange

         15  as it is, better we get more equipment down there

         16  and more people down there, because we don't have a

         17  procedure for doing this, no one has ever had a

         18  problem like this before, God willing no one will

         19  ever have a problem like that again.

         20                 But you know our concern was that our

         21  personnel and the contractor's personnel got out of

         22  the shaft rather than be overcome by the smoke, and

         23  that is what we were essentially concerned by.

         24                 But you are absolutely correct, it is

         25  a major problem. It is a major problem also for me,
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          2  again, as a property owner, because I may not find

          3  out what happened until after it is all over, and I

          4  am kind of left, you know, hanging. So, the

          5  situations do tend to change so rapidly and where I

          6  had been the incident commander on the watermain

          7  break or sewer break or something of that sort, you

          8  tend to get information early on that is not only

          9  incomplete, but it may be deceptive in what your

         10  understanding of the problem. And if you go out

         11  early with that information, you spend the rest of

         12  your time trying to explain why you don't have any

         13  credibility because you were wrong the first time.

         14                 So, most people in those cases try to

         15  hold back until they know that they have got hard,

         16  cold facts, then they release it as fast as they get

         17  it.

         18                 And, again, this is not an excuse for

         19  the Fire Department, but I can tell you that from my

         20  own perspective, we have that kind of a problem. I

         21  mean, the Fifth Avenue Watermain break, we didn't

         22  know which of the pipes was causing the break for

         23  hours after the thing had occurred, even though we

         24  had been able to shut it off.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Just two more

          3  questions, and then we will be doing well.

          4                 Can you explain why Fiscal Year 2000

          5  funding of $20 million for the construction of

          6  sanitary combined sewers Citywide has been

          7  eliminated? We are talking about capital money.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: It

          9  is the scheduling of a lump sum item historically.

         10  There is an allocation for 2000, as you approach

         11  that Fiscal Year specific projects are scheduled

         12  against that lump sum.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: In

         15  fact, the allocations for sewer work in both '99 and

         16  2000 are two of the highest we have ever gone

         17  forward with. $253 million in sewer work.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Why are we

         19  eliminating $20 million?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         21  What I am telling you is we have not eliminated it.

         22                 What you see is a lump sum in the

         23  budget for combined sewer work. As specific projects

         24  are developed by our agency and DDC, that lump sum

         25  is taken down and broken into specific funding.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The capital

          3  budget person understands it, so that is fine.

          4                 Next question.

          5                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: The answer is we

          6  couldn't do the project in the year in which it was

          7  funded, so we had to move the money and the project

          8  to another year.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay. If it was

         10  moved over I would understand, but if it was

         11  eliminated, that's different.

         12                 Okay, so it has been moved over, it

         13  has not been eliminated. That I understand.

         14                 Watermains. The January Capital

         15  Commitment shows funding for replacement of water

         16  trunk and main distribution extensions in FY 2000

         17  decreasing by 3.5 million; why the decrease?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         19  Again, you are seeing minor timing changes from year

         20  to year. Sometimes work is advanced from 2000 into

         21  '99. Sometimes work is shifted out to'01.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So it is the

         23  same situation?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         25  Right, minor timing adjustments.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, are there

          3  any other questions? Does anybody have any other

          4  questions?

          5                 As usual, we thank you very much for

          6  being here and for cooperating with us. And you will

          7  follow up on the things that you said you would do

          8  for us?

          9                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: We are pleased to

         10  have been here and anything you need from us, please

         11  feel free to get --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Let me go on

         13  record to thank you on behalf of the local

         14  government advisory board to the EPA Administrator,

         15  they very much enjoyed their trip.

         16                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Thank you. I got

         17  a nice letter. Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I wanted to

         19  personally thank you as a member of that body.

         20                 COMMISSIONER MIELE: Anytime. If you

         21  have another group, let us know.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They really were

         23  very appreciative.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 Five-minute recess and we will begin

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            138

          1  DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  with the Sanitation Department.

          3                 (DEP portion of the hearing concluded

          4  at 10:45 a.m.)
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